
To: Karla Sanchez[Karla.Sanchez@ag.ny.gov]
Cc: Christina Harvey[Christina.Harvey@ag.ny.gov]; Lemuel Srolovic[Lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov]
From: Alvin Bragg[/O=LAWNET/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP 
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=ABRAGG]
Sent: Tue 11/10/2015 4:56:40 PM (UTC-05:00)
Subject: Re: Following up on Conversation with NY AG

I didn't. 

Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 10, 2015, at 4:10 PM, Karla Sanchez <Karla.Sanchez@ag.ny.gov> wrote:

Not me
 

Karla
 
From: Christina Harvey 
Sent: Tuesday, November 10, 2015 3:10 PM
To: Alvin Bragg
Cc: Lemuel Srolovic; Karla Sanchez
Subject: Re: Following up on Conversation with NY AG
 
Did anyone get any response? 

Message sent from a Blackberry device
 
From: Christina Harvey 
Sent: Monday, November 09, 2015 01:58 PM
To: 'esuhr@fahrllc.com' <esuhr@fahrllc.com> 
Cc: Alvin Bragg; Lemuel Srolovic; Karla Sanchez 
Subject: Following up on Conversation with NY AG 
 

Erin-

I am following up on a conversation that New York Attorney General Eric Schneiderman had with NextGen 
Climate founder Tom Steyer over the weekend.  I understand that you may have some studies about climate 
change or climate change denial groups that you’d like to get to the team working on the Exxon matter. I 
have included those individuals here (Executive Deputy Attorney General for Social Justice Alvin Bragg, 
Executive Deputy Attorney General for Economic Justice Karla Sanchez, and Environmental Protection 
Bureau Chief Lem Srolovic).

Thanks,

Christina

Christina Harvey

Senior Advisor and Director of Operations

NYS Office of the Attorney General

120 Broadway - 25th Floor

New York, NY  10271
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christina.harvey@ag.ny.gov
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To: 'esuhr@fahrllc.com'[esuhr@fahrllc.com]
Cc: Alvin Bragg[Alvin.Bragg@ag.ny.gov]; Lemuel Srolovic[Lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov]; Karla 
Sanchez[Karla.Sanchez@ag.ny.gov]
From: Christina Harvey[/O=LAWNET/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP 
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=CHARVEY]
Sent: Mon 11/9/2015 1:58:38 PM (UTC-05:00)
Subject: Following up on Conversation with NY AG

Erin-
I am following up on a conversation that New York Attorney General Eric Schneiderman had with NextGen Climate founder Tom 
Steyer over the weekend.  I understand that you may have some studies about climate change or climate change denial groups that 
you’d like to get to the team working on the Exxon matter. I have included those individuals here (Executive Deputy Attorney General 
for Social Justice Alvin Bragg, Executive Deputy Attorney General for Economic Justice Karla Sanchez, and Environmental Protection 
Bureau Chief Lem Srolovic).
Thanks,
Christina

Christina Harvey
Senior Advisor and Director of Operations 
NYS Office of the Attorney General
120 Broadway - 25th Floor
New York, NY  10271
212-416-8095
christina.harvey@ag.ny.gov

IMPORTANT NOTICE: This e-mail, including any attachments, may be confidential, privileged or otherwise legally 
protected. It is intended only for the addressee. If you received this e-mail in error or from someone who was not authorized 
to send it to you, do not disseminate, copy or otherwise use this e-mail or its attachments. Please notify the sender 
immediately by reply e-mail and delete the e-mail from your system. 
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To: Alvin Bragg[Alvin.Bragg@ag.ny.gov]
Cc: Lemuel Srolovic[Lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov]; Karla Sanchez[Karla.Sanchez@ag.ny.gov]
From: Christina Harvey[/O=LAWNET/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP 
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=CHARVEY]
Sent: Tue 11/10/2015 3:10:00 PM (UTC-05:00)
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

I am following up on a conversation that New York Attorney General Eric Schneiderman had with NextGen Climate founder 
Tom Steyer over the weekend.  I understand that you may have some studies about climate change or climate change 
denial groups that you’d like to get to the team working on the Exxon matter. I have included those individuals here 
(Executive Deputy Attorney General for Social Justice Alvin Bragg, Executive Deputy Attorney General for Economic Justice 
Karla Sanchez, and Environmental Protection Bureau Chief Lem Srolovic).

Thanks,

Christina

Christina Harvey

Senior Advisor and Director of Operations

NYS Office of the Attorney General

120 Broadway - 25th Floor

New York, NY  10271

212-416-8095

christina.harvey@ag.ny.gov
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To: Christina Harvey[Christina.Harvey@ag.ny.gov]; Alvin Bragg[Alvin.Bragg@ag.ny.gov]
Cc: Lemuel Srolovic[Lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov]
From: Karla Sanchez[/O=LAWNET/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP 
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=KSANCHEZ]
Sent: Tue 11/10/2015 4:10:21 PM (UTC-05:00)
Subject: RE: Following up on Conversation with NY AG

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

I am following up on a conversation that New York Attorney General Eric Schneiderman had with NextGen Climate 
founder Tom Steyer over the weekend.  I understand that you may have some studies about climate change or climate 
change denial groups that you’d like to get to the team working on the Exxon matter. I have included those individuals 
here (Executive Deputy Attorney General for Social Justice Alvin Bragg, Executive Deputy Attorney General for Economic 
Justice Karla Sanchez, and Environmental Protection Bureau Chief Lem Srolovic).

Thanks,

Christina

Christina Harvey

Senior Advisor and Director of Operations

NYS Office of the Attorney General

120 Broadway - 25th Floor

New York, NY  10271

212-416-8095

christina.harvey@ag.ny.gov
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To: Christina Harvey[Christina.Harvey@ag.ny.gov]
Cc: Alvin Bragg[Alvin.Bragg@ag.ny.gov]; Karla Sanchez[Karla.Sanchez@ag.ny.gov]
From: Lemuel Srolovic[/O=LAWNET/OU=FIRST ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=LSROLOVI]
Sent: Tue 11/10/2015 3:52:47 PM (UTC-05:00)
Subject: Re: Following up on Conversation with NY AG

I have not.  

Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 10, 2015, at 3:10 PM, Christina Harvey <Christina.Harvey@ag.ny.gov> wrote:

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
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becomes saturated with ethanol and other biofuels; they say higher ethanol blend
could damage engines and that the nation doesn’t yet  have adequate fueling
infrastructure for E15 and E85.

“EPA acknowledges that its 2016 RVO proposal would require significant greater
use of E15 and E85 in order to meet the proposed mandate in 2016,” the members
wrote.

“Therefore, this proposal is problematic not only in principle, but it is also
impractical since it would take decades, not months to build out the compatible
vehicle fleet and install the necessary retail infrastructure to accommodate the
higher blends of ethanol,” they continued.

The group also pledged to work toward reforming the standard, though in the
meantime they said the agency would have to act on its own.

EPA said it had received the letter and would review it.  The agency submitted the
regulations to the Office of Management and Budget last week, and it plans to
have the final rules released by Nov. 30.

“The final rule to establish the RFS standards for 2014, 2015, and 2016, and the
biomass-based diesel standard for 2017, is currently under interagency review,”
the agency said. “EPA is committed to the long term growth in biofuels that will
strengthen energy security and increase greenhouse gas emissions benefits.”

The agency has come under fire from ethanol and other biofuels groups for
proposing to use a waiver authority, allowed by the 2005 law that created the
RFS, to set blending levels below the statute. EPA officials, in proposing the three
years of standards, said that slower-than-expected growth in the biofuels sector
and lower overall fuel consumption made the waiver a necessity.

The Renewable Fuels Association, an industry group representing ethanol
manufacturers, said that the lawmakers were simply spitting oil industry talking
points about the RFS.

“It should come as no surprise that, as the November 30th deadline for the EPA to
issue its final rule on the 2014-2016 RVOs looms, the Big Oil spin machine has
gone into overdrive and the petroleum industry is pulling out all the stops in an
attempt to confuse the public and mislead policymakers about this important
program,” President and CEO Bob Dinneen said. “The fact that members of
Congress are parroting Big Oil’s blend wall narrative is shameful evidence that
money talks.”

The American Council for Capital Formation, a group opposed to the RFS that has
financed a recent report highlighting some of the environmental shortcomings of
the program, praised the lawmakers.

“In a Congress that can hardly agree on much these days, this broad bipartisan
coalition reflects the significant progress and momentum behind fixing this

FOIL 160286      000002
FOIL G000617-091423    000064





Transocean sees revenue drop despite reporting profit in 3Q

Dynegy reports 3Q net loss and another coal retirement

Upcoming Events

By The Numbers: Clean Power Plan foes
include most carbon-intensive states

By Brad Kalbfeld

The 26 states going to court to kill the Environmental Protection Agency's
Clean Power Plan include the nation's most carbon-intensive economies, while
the 18 states who have requested to defend the regulation include the least-
carbon-intensive, an EnergyGuardian analysis of government figures shows.

States on both sides are intervening in a lawsuit filed in U.S. Court of Appeals
for the District of Columbia Circuit that aims to throw out the Environmental
Protection Agency's rule requiring reductions in carbon emissions from
existing power plants over the next 15 years, and to issue a stay on
implementation until is renders its decision. On Wednesday, 18 states asked
the court to allow them to join the case on EPA's side.

The analysis examined 2013 state-by-state emissions figures released by the
Energy Information Administration last month. West Virginia, the lead state in
the lawsuit, had the nation's second-most carbon intensive economy, EIA's
figures show, while New York, the state leading the effort to defend the rule,
had the least carbon-intensive economy.

EIA defined carbon intensity as the amount of energy-related carbon dioxide
emitted per dollar of the state's gross domestic product. The higher that
number, the more carbon-intense the economy.

The EnergyGuardian analysis ranked the states 1 through 50, and found that,
on average, states suing to overturn the rule ranked twice as high in carbon-
intensity as the states that want to support the plan in court. The average
carbon-intensity rank of opposing states was between 17 and 18, while the
average rank of supporting states was 38.

The 10 most carbon-intensive state economies include Wyoming, West
Virginia, North Dakota, Louisiana, Montana, Kentucky, Alaska, Indiana,
Alabama and Oklahoma. All but Alaska are party to the suit. The 10 least
carbon-intensive states are New York, Connecticut, Massachusetts, California,
Maryland, Washington, Oregon, Rhode Island, Vermont and New Jersey. All
were part of Wednesday's pro-EPA filing except New Jersey.
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The findings track across other rankings in the EIA data.

The suing states include 9 of the 10 states with the highest percentage of
carbon emissions from electric generation, 8 of the 10 states with the highest
carbon intensity of energy supply, 9 of the 10 states with the highest per capita
energy-related carbon emissions, and 9 of the 10 top emitters of carbon from
coal-fired power plants.

Among all states, opponents ranked, on average, twice as high as CPP
supporters in all of these areas.

The import of the data is reflected in the remarks officials have made in their
legal filings.

"The states are being immediately and irreparably harmed by EPA's illegal
effort to force states to reorder their electrical generation systems,” the 26
opposing states wrote in their petition for an immediate stay of the regulation.

The 18 states that applied for permission to join EPA's court defense wrote that
they "have a compelling interest in defending the Clean Power Plan as a means
to achieve their goal of preventing and mitigating climate change harms in
their states and municipalities."

New York State Attorney General Eric Schneiderman told reporters
Wednesday that the 18 states want to "ensure that some states aren't working
hard to reduce carbon emissions only to have it come in from across the
borders.” The carbon rule, he said, "makes sure every state steps up to the plate
and does its fair share.”

Brown had state workers research oil on
ranch

By Ellen Knickmeyer

SAN FRANCISCO (AP) — Gov. Jerry Brown last year directed state oil and gas
regulators to research, map and report back on any mining and oil drilling
potential and history at the Brown family's private land in Northern California.

After a phone call from the governor and follow-up requests from his aides,
senior staffers in the state's oil and gas regulatory agency over at least two days
produced a 51-page historical report and geological assessment, plus a
personalized satellite imaged geological and oil and gas drilling map for the
area around Brown's family ranchland near the town of Williams.

Ultimately, the regulators told the governor, prospects were "very low" for any
commercial drilling or mining at the 2,700-acre property, which has been in
Brown's family for more than a century.
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Management's approval for Nevada’s Searchlight Wind Energy Project, ruling the
agency didn’t properly evaluate the threat the turbines would pose to tortoises and golden eagles
in the Mojave Desert, E&E reports.

More

Nuclear industry losing economic battle

Despite its low carbon footprint, the nuclear industry is struggling in the face of
high expenses for building and operating nuclear power plants, as evidenced by
two recent announcement of closures, The Hill reports.

More

Oil recovering from slide

Oil prices rose slightly Thursday morning following a crash the day before on
data from the Energy Information Administration showing a build in crude
stockpiles. U.S. benchmark crude gained 18 cents to $46.50 a barrel in
electronic trading on the Nymex, while in London Brent increased 24 cents to
$48.82, Reuters reports.

More

California to have significant presence at Paris talks

Gov. Jerry Brown, former Gov. Arnold Schwarzenegger and activist Tom Steyer
are expected to attend the upcoming Paris conference on climate change, the
Los Angeles Times reports.

More

New minister says Canada must step up climate fight

Canadian Prime Minister Justin Trudeau has added climate change to the title of his environment

minister and named Catherine McKenna to the post in an effort to highlight his
commitment to act on the issue, the CBC reports.

More

Cost cutting helps Energy Transfer Equity to $293M 3Q
profit

Lower costs and trimmed expenses helped Energy Transfer Equity overcome a
decline in revenue in the third quarter, with the company seeing its profit jump
56 percent to $293 million in the third quarter, The Wall Street Journal
reports.
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said in a statement.

Construction stopped on the second unit in 1985, when TVA suspended the
project to focus on completing the first reactor. It applied to renew the Unit 2
construction permit in 2000, and the NRC has been reviewing its license
application since 2007.

TVA said the reactor was set to begin operating in early 2016, and would power as
many as 650,000 homes. Combined, the two Watts Bar reactors will power 1.3
million homes.

“Completing Watts Bar Unit 2 was a sound business decision made for the long-
term good of the Tennessee Valley,” TVA CEO Bill Johnson said in a statement.
“The unit is essential to diversifying TVA’s power sources to assure the more than
9 million people served by TVA and its local power company partners have
affordable and reliable electricity generated in an environmentally friendly
manner.”

Nuclear Energy Institute President Marvin Fertel said in a statement that the
license proved that nuclear power can remain relevant, especially as the nation
looks to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

“This is a hallmark day for the U.S. nuclear energy industry,” he said. “All told,
nuclear energy facilities provide 63 percent of America’s zero-carbon electricity
supply—evidence that significant greenhouse gas reductions in the electric sector
can’t be achieved unless our nation keeps the nuclear facilities we already have
and builds more of them.”

But Greenpeace Nuclear Policy Analyst Jim Riccio said the nuclear industry had
little to celebrate, pointing to the reactor's estimated $4.5 billion cost and its
nearly 43-year construction history.

“I don't think even the industry should be cheering too loudly for this one,
because it's an example of everything that's wrong with nuclear power,” Riccio
said. 

He also contended that TVA, as a federally owned corporation, had credit
opportunities that other power companies can't hope to access. 

“No other corporation could afford to have left this reactor—we call them zombie
reactors—sitting on its books as long as TVA did,” he said. “But because TVA has
the unique situation where it has a $30 billion debt ceiling, that's why you see this
weird anomaly of them actually finishing Watts Bar 2.”

The announcement was celebrated by Sen. Lamar Alexander, R-Tenn., one of the
leading proponents of nuclear power in Congress. He has said that nuclear would
be a far more effective path forward for low-carbon energy than renewable
sources such as wind power.
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gates for legal challenges

By Kevin Rogers

The Environmental Protection Agency on Thursday announced that it would
move to publish its final Clean Power Plan in Friday's Federal Register,
opening the door for industry and state governments to pursue legal action
against the power plant carbon rules.

The federal government will publish the two rules: One for existing plants
which relies on state-specific carbon emission-reduction targets—and one for
new fossil fuel-fired plants—which includes hard emissions limits. The rules
seek to cut, by 2030, sector carbon pollution to 32 percent below 2005 levels.

Publication starts a 60 day countdown for states and industry to file legal
action against the regulation and for Congress to act on any review process to
attempt to block the regulations.

States led by West Virginia, have threatened to sue over the rules, as has the
coal company Murray Energy Corporation. They argue that the new rules
infringe on state authority. Senate Majority Leader Mitch McConnell, R-Ky.,
has said he would consider using the Congressional Review Act in an attempt
to overrule the regulations.

The agency on Friday will also publish a proposed federal implementation
plan, which would be used in the absence of a state plan. That proposal will be
open for comment from stakeholders until January 21, 2016.

On a call with reporters, Acting Assistant Administrator for Air and Radiation
Janet McCabe said the more than two-month gap between finalization and
publication wasn't intended to forestall legal challenges, as some opponents
have alleged.

“This has actually moved fairly rapidly considering the length of these rules
and the fact that there were three packages,” she said.

She also said there were no “substantive” changes made between the pre-
publication version and the rules that will be published.

The American Coalition for Clean Coal Electricity, an industry group opposed
to the regulations, said the publication would “finally” allow states and
industries to take legal action against the agency.

“We are hopeful they will be successful and that the courts act quickly and
decisively to quash this illegal rule,” President and CEO Mike Duncan said in a
statement.

VW says newer engine may also have had
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Freeport McMoRan Inc., hit hard by low prices that torpedoed its venture into
the oil and gas industry, has posted a loss of $3.8 billion in the third quarter,
compared to a profit of $552 million in the period a year ago, The Wall Street
Journal reports.

More

Oil posts gains on bargain hunting

Bargain hunting in the wake of this week's steep slide helped oil prices recover
some equilibrium Thursday, if only temporarily, following yesterday's report of
a big build in stockpiles. West Texas Intermediate crude for December delivery
rose 18 cents to settle at $45.38 a barrel on the Nymex, while in London, Brent
ended 23 cents higher to $48.08, Marketwatch reports.

More

Think tank predicts drop in demand for fossil fuels

An analysis from the London think tank Carbon Tracker Initiative offers
reasons why there may be a big drop in demand for fossil fuels over the next 25
years, E&E reports.

More

EQT to narrow its gas drilling focus

Faced with falling natural gas prices, EQT Corp. will suspend drilling
operations outside of its most profitable core of wells in the Marcellus and
Utica Shale plays, the Pittsburgh Business Times reports.

More

Noble looks to midstream IPO to raise cash

Noble Energy says it hopes to raise $100 million from an initial public offering
of shares in Noble Midstream Partners, which will own infrastructure in the
Colorado DJ Basin, FuelFix reports.

More

Dow cutting back in Kuwait but building U.S. Gulf Coast
plant

Dow Chemical chief Andrew Liveris describes the decision to reduce the
company’s stake in Kuwait ventures as “disciplined portfolio management,” as
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
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From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org>
Sent: Tuesday, February 3, 2015 7:01 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: follow up

Lem,  
Since we spoke I have been in touch with folks who probably know more about company X's past 
efforts to obfuscate than just about anyone. They have a trove of material to share that speaks to many 
of the issues touched upon today.  
 
Can you see what days and time might work for us to get together next week with these folks and their 
material? I’m hoping Steve G can join us. I know Tue doesn’t work, but other dates, depending on 
time, are possible. Thanks.  
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 
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From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org>
Sent: Friday, February 6, 2015 12:34 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: FW: follow up
Attachments: 64D1D2E8-811D-40B8-85E0-93FF7C3B8280[115].png

Hi, Lem, 
Just want to ge this back on the top of your email. 
Hope we can make this happen. I think you’ll find the material of great use.  
 
Thanks. 
Lee 
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 

 

 
 

From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> 
Date: Tuesday, February 3, 2015 at 7:00 PM 
To: "lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov" <lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov> 
Subject: follow up 

 
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
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From: Lemuel Srolovic
Sent: Wednesday, February 11, 2015 10:42 AM
To: 'Lee Wasserman'
Subject: RE: follow up

Lee – last week was crazy and this week front-loaded but this Friday afternoon, 2/13, is clear, as 
is Thursday and Friday afternoon of next week 2-19-20).   Would any of those 
work?   Regards,  Lem      
 
From: Lee Wasserman [mailto:lwasserman@rffund.org]  
Sent: Friday, February 06, 2015 12:34 PM 
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
Sent: Wednesday, February 11, 2015 10:49 AM
To: 'Lee Wasserman'
Subject: RE: follow up

Lee – confirming our conversation just now, I have penciled in the early afternoons of Monday or 
Tuesday (2/23-24) for meeting re climate change and fossil fuel companies.   Thanks for 
arranging this conversation,  Lem       
 
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
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From: Bevis Longstreth <blongstreth@mindspring.com>
Sent: Monday, February 16, 2015 1:52 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: FW: Climate Public Trust, Divestment, and SCC Litigation Group Update
Attachments: RI Feb 16 2015 Fiduciary case.pdf; WSJ Feb 13 2014 Climate Activists Look to Courts.pdf

Here’s update on the case in UK I told you about a while ago.  Any movement in the AG office?  The time is right to put 
out an interpretative release.  Bevis 
 

From: Julian Poulter [mailto:julian.poulter@aodproject.net]  
Sent: Monday, February 16, 2015 11:54 AM 
To: David Weiskopf; Bevis Longstreth 
Cc: Ted White; Daniel Lashof; Trip Van Noppen; Rudy E. Verner; Doniger, David; David Nicholas; Vic Sher; Robert 
Massie; Jamie Court 
Subject: RE: Climate Public Trust, Divestment, and SCC Litigation Group Update 
 
FYI attached from Friday’s Wall Street Journal and todays RI. It was always going to be difficult to keep the story under 
wraps! 
Regards 
Julian 
 

From: David Weiskopf [mailto:dweiskopf@nextgenamerica.org]  
Sent: 23 January 2015 01:05 
To: Bevis Longstreth; Julian Poulter 
Cc: Ted White; Daniel Lashof; Trip Van Noppen; Rudy E. Verner; Doniger, David; David Nicholas; Vic Sher; Robert Massie; 
Jamie Court 
Subject: Re: Climate Public Trust, Divestment, and SCC Litigation Group Update 

 
Adding Julian Poulter from AODP to this list. 
 

From: David Weiskopf <dweiskopf@nextgenamerica.org> 
Date: Thursday, January 15, 2015 at 6:24 AM 
To: Bevis Longstreth <blongstreth@mindspring.com> 
Cc: Ted White <twhite@fahrllc.com>, Dan Lashof <dlashof@nextgenamerica.org>, Trip Van Noppen 
<tvannoppen@earthjustice.org>, "Rudy E. Verner" <rev@bhgrlaw.com>, "Doniger, David" <ddoniger@nrdc.org>, David 
Nicholas <dnicholas@verizon.net>, Vic Sher <vic@vicsherlaw.com>, Robert Massie <rkmassie@gmail.com>, Jamie Court 
<jamie@consumerwatchdog.org> 
Subject: Re: Climate Public Trust, Divestment, and SCC Litigation Group Update 
 
I neglected to mention yesterday, but the Our Children's Trust case in Oregon is moving forward, and will have a hearing on 
competing motions for summary judgment this 
March: http://www.oregonlive.com/environment/index.ssf/2015/01/eugene teens who sued gov john.html 
 
All the best,  
Dave 

 
On Jan 14, 2015, at 7:20 PM, Bevis Longstreth <blongstreth@mindspring.com> wrote: 
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Hi David.  Thanks for all this.  Look forward to reading and informing myself.  I continue to like the idea 
of a well conceived law suit.  Cheers. Bevis 
  

From: David Weiskopf [mailto:dweiskopf@nextgenamerica.org]  
Sent: Wednesday, January 14, 2015 1:15 PM 
To: Bevis Longstreth; 'Ted White'; Daniel Lashof; 'Trip Van Noppen'; 'Rudy E. Verner'; 'Doniger, David'; 
'David Nicholas'; 'Vic Sher'; Robert Massie; Jamie Court 
Subject: Climate Public Trust, Divestment, and SCC Litigation Group Update 
  
Hi All, 
  
I’m writing to pass along this interesting resource Ted alerted me to pertaining to the applicability of the 
Public Trust Doctrine to rights to the atmosphere in the context of climate change 
litigation: http://johnjberger.com/2015/01/08/applying‐the‐public‐trust‐doctrine‐to‐climate‐change‐using‐
atmospheric‐trust‐litigation/. Bill Moyers recently interviewed one of the Plaintiffs in the series of cases being 
brought by Our Children’s Trust. The full interview is available here. The group’s federal case, which sought 
recognition of a federal public trust duty was denied cert in December, with the Court affirming that Public 
Trust Doctrine is a matter of state law. I’ve attached that case’s cert petition to this message. 
  
The atmospheric trust theory is articulated by Professor Mary Wood in her book Nature’s Trust; 
Environmental Law for a New Ecological Age (an excerpt is available here). Wood sees her work in bringing 
these lawsuits as integral with demonstrations of popular democracy seen in recent years in the People’s 
Climate March, Keystone XL protests, and other climate activism, but she does not view her lawsuits as 
purely symbolic or as acts of protest — she is working from the premise that the courts can and do update 
legal principles in response to broader societal changes, making this moment the right time to push for legal 
recognition for climate‐related claims. As she described to Moyers, "Judges can, if they sense the need, move 
very rapidly and order swift injunctions to force the legislatures or agencies, or both, to create a carbon 
reduction plan. And as that awareness becomes more acute, as demonstrated in the streets, courts, I believe, 
will become more receptive to coming in and ordering the legislatures to do their job.” 
  
In a related matter, the Harvard students who have brought a lawsuit against the University to compel 
divestment from fossil fuels have submitted their memo in opposition to defendants’ motions to dismiss. The 
court is now considering the motions and may schedule a hearing. Please let me know if you’d like a copy of 
any of the filings in that case.  
  
Also in Divestment news, approximately 300 Stanford faculty have signed on to a letter calling for the 
University to extend its divestment from coal to include natural gas and oil investments as well. 10 Stanford 
Law faculty signed onto the letter, along with professors from a broad cross‐section of the University’s 
schools and departments. The full letter and list of signatories is available here. 
  
Finally, I also wanted to call attention to recent research from Stanford indicating that current estimates of 
the Social Cost of Carbon are far too low. It is generally known that the SCC is an underestimate because it 
excludes many unquantified or unquantifaible impacts from the cost estimate. These researchers have 
applied modeling techniques to estimate one of these excluded effects — GDP suppression from 
temperature spikes —  and determined that a more appropriate cost would be about $220/ton, as opposed 
to $37/ton (which is the number currently in use).  The the extent that revised NEPA rules and other 
environmental statutes require an estimate of climate impacts or a quantification of costs and benefits, this 
research provides an interesting new data point that may need to be considered, especially for those 
agencies bound by “best available science” standards. 
  
All the best and a Happy 2015 to you all, 
Dave 
  
‐‐  
David Weiskopf 
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From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org>
Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 2:08 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Cc: Steven Glassman
Subject: Monday meeting

Lem, we’re looking forward to our meeting on Monday at 1 pm. We believe the information presented 
will squarely address Steve’s question at our last meeting. I hope Steve will be able to join us to hear 
about the details. I also hope the investigator who was at the first meeting can be there (afraid I didn’t 
get his name). 
 
Thanks for your assistance with this.  
 
 
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 
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From: Lemuel Srolovic
Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 3:15 PM
To: Steven Glassman; John Oleske
Cc: Michael J. Myers; Alvin Bragg
Subject: FW: Monday meeting

Steven and John –  Lee requested this follow-on meeting for 2/23 at 1:00.  I presume that we’ll 
host in EPB, but haven’t worked out logistical details.   Wanted to make sure you have date and 
time.  Lem    
 
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
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From: Steven Glassman
Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 4:04 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic; John Oleske
Cc: Michael J. Myers; Alvin Bragg
Subject: RE: Monday meeting

I’m available then.  Is there any more information on what Lee has in mind? 
 

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
Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 4:18 PM
To: Steven Glassman; John Oleske
Cc: Michael J. Myers; Alvin Bragg
Subject: Re: Monday meeting

Not a lot but believe that it's info re ExxonMobil's activity re climate denial. I'll try to get further clarification.  
 
Message sent from a Blackberry device 
  

From: Steven Glassman  
Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 04:03 PM Eastern Standard Time 
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
Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 5:17 PM
To: 'Lee Wasserman'
Subject: RE: Monday meeting

Lee – I believe you’re out this week, and if so I apologize.   Is there a way I could get a bit of 
heads up on the kind of information planned to be presented at this meeting so we can come 
prepared?   Thanks,  Lem    
 
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
Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 6:51 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: Re: Monday meeting

Hi, Lem, 
Yes I'll be able to put together some top lines for you so you'll get a sense of what we're planning to share. 
Should be in a day or two. Thanks.  
 
Lee Wasserman   
Rockefeller Family Fund 
 
On Feb 17, 2015, at 2:17 PM, Lemuel Srolovic <Lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov> wrote: 

Lee – I believe you’re out this week, and if so I apologize.   Is there a way I could get 
a bit of heads up on the kind of information planned to be presented at this meeting 
so we can come prepared?   Thanks,  Lem    
  
From: Lee Wasserman [mailto:lwasserman@rffund.org]  
Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 2:08 PM 
To: Lemuel Srolovic 
Cc: Steven Glassman 
Subject: Monday meeting 
  
Lem, we’re looking forward to our meeting on Monday at 1 pm. We believe the 
information presented will squarely address Steve’s question at our last meeting. I hope 
Steve will be able to join us to hear about the details. I also hope the investigator who 
was at the first meeting can be there (afraid I didn’t get his name). 
  
Thanks for your assistance with this.  
  
  
  
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 
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From: Lemuel Srolovic
Sent: Wednesday, February 18, 2015 8:02 AM
To: 'lwasserman@rffund.org'
Subject: Re: Monday meeting

Excellent. Thanks, Lee.  
 
Message sent from a Blackberry device 
  

From: Lee Wasserman [mailto:lwasserman@rffund.org]  
Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 06:51 PM Eastern Standard Time 
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
Sent: Wednesday, February 18, 2015 8:58 AM
To: 'blongstreth@mindspring.com'
Subject: Re: Climate Public Trust, Divestment, and SCC Litigation Group Update

Bevis ‐‐ thank you for this update. Do you have time tomorrow or Friday to talk? I'd like to update you on our 
developments and a couple of potential asks. I have a gap tomorrow 2‐5 and Friday 1‐4. If this week's not good, next 
week works too. Regards, Lem  
 
 
Message sent from a Blackberry device 
  

From: Bevis Longstreth [mailto:blongstreth@mindspring.com]  
Sent: Monday, February 16, 2015 01:52 PM Eastern Standard Time 
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
Sent: Wednesday, February 18, 2015 10:54 AM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: RE: Climate Public Trust, Divestment, and SCC Litigation Group Update

Tomorrow 2‐5pm works for me.  I am at  .  Look forward to speaking.  
 

From: Lemuel Srolovic [mailto:Lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov]  
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
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From: John Oleske
Sent: Wednesday, February 18, 2015 5:45 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic; Steven Glassman
Cc: Michael J. Myers; Alvin Bragg
Subject: Re: Monday meeting

I can do a 1pm meeting start on Monday but not much later.  
 
Message sent from a Blackberry device 
  

From: Lemuel Srolovic  
Sent: Tuesday, February 17, 2015 04:18 PM 
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
Sent: Wednesday, February 18, 2015 6:44 PM
To: John Oleske
Subject: Re: Monday meeting

Got it. Thanks, John.  
 
Message sent from a Blackberry device 
  

From: John Oleske  
Sent: Wednesday, February 18, 2015 05:44 PM Eastern Standard Time 
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
Sent: Wednesday, February 18, 2015 8:54 PM
To: 'blongstreth@mindspring.com'
Subject: Re: Climate Public Trust, Divestment, and SCC Litigation Group Update

Thanks. I'll plan on calling you as close to 2 as possible.  
 
 
Message sent from a Blackberry device 
  

From: Bevis Longstreth [mailto:blongstreth@mindspring.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, February 18, 2015 10:54 AM Eastern Standard Time 
To: Lemuel Srolovic  
Subject: RE: Climate Public Trust, Divestment, and SCC Litigation Group Update  
  
Tomorrow 2‐5pm works for me.  I am at    Look forward to speaking.  
 

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
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From: Micah Lasher
Sent: Friday, March 13, 2015 4:20 PM
To: Alvin Bragg; John Oleske; Steven Glassman; Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: FW: legal memo
Attachments: Legal memo DB 3-8-15.docx

 
 

 

From: Lee Wasserman [mailto:lwasserman@rffund.org]  
Sent: Friday, March 13, 2015 4:16 PM 
To: Micah Lasher 
Subject: legal memo 
 
Memo we discussed.  
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 
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Privileged and Confidential 
Draft of March 5, 2015 

 
 

 
Bases for a Martin Act Investigation of Energy Companies 

 
 

Summary 
 

The Office of the New York Attorney General (“NYAG”) should investigate 
whether leading energy companies are conducting a scam to prop up their share 
prices by minimizing the risk that climate change poses to their business models.   
That risk is simple:  energy company valuations are driven by “proven reserves” of 
oil, gas, and coal.  If the reserves cannot be used – because of regulation or an 
ecological disaster, two very real possibilities – energy stocks must fall.  Energy 
companies prop up their current high valuations by disseminating misinformation 
about climate change and valuing reserves as if they had no chance of being 
stranded underground.   

 
Under the Martin Act, this pattern of behavior may well constitute a scheme 

to defraud investors, misleading them into thinking that “proven reserves” are 
certain to be sold eventually.  The NYAG should use the extraordinary provisions of 
the Martin Act to conduct a rifle-shot inquiry that will validate whether or not the 
scheme exists and is actionable.   

 
The Martin Act 
 

The first two paragraphs of the Martin Act (Section 352.1-2 of the NY General 
Business Law, Article 23-A) set out the NYAG’s power to investigate the energy 
companies and give it the tools to do so efficiently.  Obviously, the Martin Act gives 
the NYAG a mandate to investigate deceptions in the security markets such as the 
conduct outlined above.  It also specifically mentions energy investments, giving the 
NYAG jurisdiction over “stocks . . . including oil and mineral deeds or leases and any 
interest therein . . . “   

 
The NYAG has extremely broad discretion – it may investigate “[w]hen it 

shall appear to the [NYAG], either upon complaint or otherwise [that there is a 
scheme to defraud] . . . or [the NYAG] believes it to be in the public interest that an 
investigation be made.”  Our presentation to you constitutes an actionable 
complaint, and clearly it is in the public interest for the NYAG to look into this 
matter. 

 
The Martin Act gives the NYAG subpoena power (Section 352.2), but it also 

allows the NYAG to issue interrogatories and demands for specific data: “[The 
NYAG] may in his discretion either require or permit [a corporation under 
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investigation] to file with him a statement under oath or otherwise as to all the facts 
and circumstances concerning the subject matter which he believes it is to the 
public interest to investigate, and for that purpose may prescribe forms upon which 
such statements shall be made.  The attorney-general may also require such other 
data and information as he may deem relevant and make such special and 
independent investigations as he may deem necessary in connection with the 
matter.” (Section 352.1)   

 
Companies being investigated by the NYAG have no choice but to comply.  As 

long as the NYAG’s Martin Act discovery requests relate to the investigation (defined 
by the NYAG), have some factual basis and precede the filing of a complaint, motions 
to quash are futile.  Discovery recipients rarely litigate the point, but in one 2009 
case a New York judge quoted with approval an earlier case that stated “[A]ll that 
the Attorney General need show in the face of a motion to quash is his authority, the 
relevance of the items sought, and some factual basis for his investigation.”  People 
of the State of New York v. Thain, (Sup. Ct. N.Y. County, March 18, 2009) at 3. 
http://online.wsj.com/public/resources/documents/merrillruling20090318.pdf    

 
Martin Act investigations can also be completely confidential, so if a case fails 

to materialize the inquiry can be abandoned without publicity.  Again, the Thain 
court quoted an earlier holding that the Martin Act gives “authority in the attorney-
general to direct whether the inquiry in its entirety be secret or public.”  Id., at 6. 

 
The Scheme to Overvalue “Proven Reserves” 

 
The scheme is simple:  the energy companies know that climate change is 

real and that “proven reserves” must be discounted to reflect the risk of stranding.  
Publicly, however, they minimize the risk of climate change and deny that stranding 
is even possible.  They do so to prop up their share prices, which are driven in large 
part by the amount of “proven reserves.” 

 
Parts of the scheme are already public.  We know that energy companies 

accept climate change as real on an operational level, as is shown by their plans to 
drill under the polar ice cap once it is substantially reduced or completely melted.  
At the same time, we know that publicly they take the position that there is zero risk 
of stranded reserves – that is, that there is no chance that climate change will result 
in less carbon being burned.   We also see them paying climate change deniers such 
as Dr. Willie Soon to spread doubts about the impact of burning reserves.   

 
These facts alone are enough to warrant investigation:  why should the oil 

companies believe one set of facts privately and promote another publicly?  Why do 
they operate under the assumption that the climate is changing but mark their 
reserves as if it is not?  Why do they pay proxies to promote views they understand 
to be false?  What impact does this have on investors? 
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The energy companies have yet to be investigated on these key questions.  
The facts that are public today come from FOIA requests and investigative 
journalists.  Focused discovery of the type outlined below will probably reveal the 
true scope of the scheme, showing internal knowledge of the reality of climate 
change, pressure to keep this knowledge out of the valuation of reserves because of 
the impact that would have on share price, and a consciously false public relations 
campaign.   These are all the ingredients of a classic Martin Act fraud:  a scheme to 
use false pretenses to prop up share prices. 
 
Materiality 
 
 Depending on how the NYAG decides to proceed after completing its 
investigation, materiality may or may not be part of its case.  Until the NYAG actually 
decides to sue, however, it is not an issue. 
 

Martin Act cases based solely on omissions or misstatements must show 
materiality – that is, in a nutshell, that the omitted or misstated facts would have 
mattered to the average investor.  That standard would be met by systematic 
mismarking of proven reserves. 

 
If, however, the NYAG elects to proceed on the theory that the energy 

companies are engaged in a scheme to fraudulently prop up their stock prices by 
mismarking their books and disseminating misinformation, materiality  -- while it 
would clearly be present -- would not necessarily have to be an element of the case.  
The Martin Act makes any such “scheme to defraud” illegal.  
 
Relief 
 
 If the NYAG establishes a scheme to defraud by the energy companies, it 
should bring an action to enjoin it under Section 353.  By publicizing the facts 
underlying the scheme and demanding that it cease, the NYAG will discharge its 
duty and render a lasting service to the people of New York (and the rest of the 
world).  There is no need to pursue restitution unless the NYAG chooses to do so. 
 
Streamlined Discovery  
 
 The NYAG is in a position to use unique Martin Act discovery tools to quickly 
determine whether it has a case or not, without getting buried in energy company 
documents.  Using interrogatories, the NYAG could ask for: 
 

• Identities of all outside spokespeople retained to address climate change 
• A list of all payments to outside entities for studies of climate change or 

advocacy on climate change 
• An explanation of how stranding risk is incorporated in the valuation of 

“proven reserves” 
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• Descriptions of all capital or operational expenditures that are based on 
projected changes in sea levels, polar ice coverage, or global temperatures 

 
In addition to the foregoing, a subpoena for (1) copies of all internal studies of 
climate change (including sea level rise, changes to ice caps and extreme weather 
events), (2) any memoranda on climate change supplied to Board members, and (3) 
organizational charts or other information sufficient to show who at the company 
analyzes or projects climate change would round out the picture without being 
burdensome. 
 
 The responses to this discovery would be enough to let the NYAG know 
whether it has a likely case or not, and would help focus subsequent email 
discovery. 
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
212.812.4252 
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From: Micah Lasher
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 6:04 PM
To: Steven Glassman
Cc: Alvin Bragg; Lemuel Srolovic; Janet Sabel
Subject: FW: legal memo

Steve – see below. 
 
I think it would be helpful if you could open a direct line of communication with Brown (outside of some more formal, 
one‐time conference call).  Maybe he has an angle on this that we’re not thinking of, or maybe he can come to see that 
he’s wrong.  Either way, it will help us reach resolution on this. 
 

From: Lee Wasserman [mailto:lwasserman@rffund.org]  
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 5:53 PM 
To: Micah Lasher 
Subject: Re: legal memo 
 
Great idea to connect David with folks there. He is actually working for a not-for-profit in Boston.  
Here’s his email and phone: 
 
David Brown <daviddbrowniv@gmail.com> 

 
 

Lee Wasserman 

Director 

475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 

 

 

 

From: Micah Lasher <Micah.Lasher@ag.ny.gov> 
Date: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 at 5:43 PM 
To: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> 
Subject: RE: legal memo 

 
Lee, 
  
What firm is David Brown at?  I think there might be some value in our lawyers connecting directly with him. 
  
Thanks, 
Micah 
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From: Lee Wasserman [mailto:lwasserman@rffund.org]  
Sent: Saturday, March 14, 2015 8:17 AM 
To: Micah Lasher 
Subject: Re: legal memo 
  
Micah,  
Thanks for having the team lean into this.   
  
Too important not to get this right before proceeding, as you rightly made clear.  
  
Mike Gerrard is abroad next week; perhaps we can talk soon thereafter? 
  
Best, Lee 
 
Lee Wasserman   
Rockefeller Family Fund 
 
On Mar 14, 2015, at 12:32 AM, Micah Lasher <Micah.Lasher@ag.ny.gov> wrote: 

This is helpful.  
  
After our call I gathered our team and pressed them a bit on their views.  I think there's a mix of 
legitimate skepticism and insufficient exploration.  I asked everyone to go back to the drawing 
board first thing Monday so we can have a more fully informed call at the end of the week.  
  
Please do know that I want to find a way on this as much as you do.  What you may have heard 
from me today was a bit of vexed struggle as I balance needing all the help from thought partners 
as we can get with protecting the prerogatives of our office and the judgment of our attorneys.  
  
Talk next week.  
  
MCL 
  
 
 

 
On Mar 13, 2015, at 4:16 PM, Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> wrote: 

Memo we discussed.  
  
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 

 
<64D1D2E8-811D-40B8-85E0-93FF7C3B8280[47].png> 

<Legal memo DB 3-8-15.docx> 
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From: Steven Glassman
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 6:09 PM
To: Micah Lasher
Cc: Alvin Bragg; Lemuel Srolovic; Janet Sabel
Subject: RE: legal memo

Will do.  Thanks. 
 

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
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 10:24 PM
To: Steven Glassman
Subject: Re: legal memo

Steve ‐‐ is the David Brown here the one who formerly was head of IPB?  
 
Message sent from a Blackberry device 
  

From: Steven Glassman  
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 06:08 PM Eastern Standard Time 
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
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 10:27 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: Re: legal memo

Yes, under Spitzer. He then became head of the NY Dormitory Authority. Do you know what he's been up to since then, 
or who he's working for now? 
 
Message sent from a Blackberry device 
  

From: Lemuel Srolovic  
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 10:23 PM 
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
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 10:29 PM
To: Steven Glassman
Subject: Re: legal memo

I don't, but one of my managers knows him from law school, I believe.  
 
I'll check to see if he knows.  
 
 
Message sent from a Blackberry device 
  

From: Steven Glassman  
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 10:27 PM Eastern Standard Time 
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
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 10:31 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: Re: legal memo

Ok, thanks.  
 
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
To: Andrew Gershon
Subject: Fw: David Brown

See below. Know current status of David Brown?  
 
 
Message sent from a Blackberry device 
  

From: Lemuel Srolovic  
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 10:29 PM Eastern Standard Time 
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

FOIL G000617-091423    000179



3

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
Sent: Wednesday, April 22, 2015 3:39 PM
To: Steven Glassman; Alvin Bragg; Janet Sabel; Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: FW: follow up
Attachments: NYAG 4-15-15F1(2).docx

 
 

From: Lee Wasserman [mailto:lwasserman@rffund.org]  
Sent: Wednesday, April 22, 2015 3:36 PM 
To: Micah Lasher 
Subject: follow up 
 
Dear Micah, 
Thanks for your consideration of the issues we’ve been discussing. I had hoped to have sent the 
attached memo to the AG earlier. We hope you will the opportunity to review the memo and share 
with him.  
Sincerely,   
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 
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Privileged and Confidential 
Draft of April 17, 2015 

 
 
 

Martin Act Discovery Requests to Fossil Fuel Companies 
 

 
 The following memorandum sets out why the Office of the New York 
Attorney General (“NYAG”) should investigate whether oil and coal (“fossil fuel”) 
companies have engaged in a Martin Act scheme by spreading misinformation about 
climate change.  The key conclusion is that the NYAG has a robust basis for doing so, 
based on the public record, and that the chance of Martin Act subpoenas being 
quashed is minimal. 
 
Background 
 
 Your office has already received an overview of the fossil fuel industry’s 
ongoing campaign to promote uncertainty around climate science.   Highlights from 
that campaign include: 
 

• The blueprint set out in the Global Climate Coalition (an oil industry front 
group) 1996 paper “Predicting Climate Change: A Primer,” which recognizes 
the scientific basis for the Greenhouse Effect but advises an industry strategy 
of emphasizing uncertainty; 

• The American Petroleum Institute’s 1998 “Global Climate Science 
Communications Plan” to attack the climate science supporting international 
efforts to solve global warming; 

• The Western Fuels Association’s “Green Earth Society,” which promoted the 
idea that carbon emissions are good for the planet as they will lead to a 
flourishing of plant life;  

• The 2014 American Coalition for Clean Coal Electricity-funded study on the 
supposed benefits of carbon emissions for plant life; and 

• An estimated $29 million in grants and gifts from ExxonMobil and $67 
million from Koch Industries supporting climate change denial over the last 
25 years. 

 
The campaign of disinformation has been on the front page of The New York Times, 
which reported on February 21, 2015 that Dr. Wei-Hock Soon, a scientist at the 
Harvard-Smithsonian Center for Astrophysics who claims that changes in the sun 
explain climate change, received more than $1.2 million from certain companies in 
the fossil fuel industry over the last decade without disclosure. 
 

At the same time that they have pursued a communications strategy 
designed to promote doubt about climate change in the public domain, some fossil 
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fuel companies have begun to acknowledge it as a serious risk in their financial 
disclosures.  See “When legally liable, companies don’t dispute global warming,” EE 
News, March 19, 2015, http://www.eenews.net/greenwire/stories/1060015376 
(copy attached).  For example, Peabody Energy Corp., the world’s largest private-
sector coal company, repeatedly questioned climate change science in its December 
2014 comments on the EPA’s Clean Power Plan.  In its 2014 10-K discussion of 
material risks, however, it simply stated that this science has “engendered concern 
about the impacts of human activity, especially fossil fuel combustion, on global 
climate issues” without mentioning that it is engaged in an effort to debunk climate 
science.  Similarly, ExxonMobil – one of the companies that have funded Dr. Soon – 
issued a report in April of 2014 stating that it “takes the risk of climate change 
seriously, and continues to take meaningful steps to address the risk and ensure 
that our facilities, operations and investments are managed with this risk in mind.”   

 
These are fine examples of corporate doublespeak  -- saying one thing 

publicly and another in disclosure documents – designed to mislead investors as to 
the fossil fuel companies’ true positions on climate change.  To get an accurate 
picture of that, investors would have to supplement their reading of official 
disclosure documents with an effort to ferret out EPA comments, secret payments to 
scientists like Dr. Soon, initiatives funneled through front organizations, etc.  
 
Three Possible Martin Act Theories 
 
 While there is no need for the NYAG to settle on a particular theory of Martin 
Act liability before launching discovery, the undisputed and public facts set out 
above give at least three possible bases for an eventual enforcement action: 
 

(1) At the very least, the above inconsistent messaging suggests an ongoing 
effort to mislead investors as to the fossil fuel companies’ true position on 
climate change.   Any deceptive practice relating to securities violates the 
Martin Act.  Here we see fossil fuel issuers making incomplete and 
misleading disclosures on climate change – an issue that goes to the heart 
of their ongoing profitability -- describing it solemnly as a risk without 
disclosing that they spend corporate funds to attack its scientific 
underpinnings. Similarly, fossil fuel companies discount the risk of 
effective environmental regulation in public disclosures, without 
revealing that they are the key actors in the effort to prevent such 
regulation.  Such misleading disclosures violate the Martin Act. 
 

(2) In addition, the fossil fuel companies would not be fighting climate 
change science if it did not impact their business models and therefore 
their share prices. As has been thoroughly reported, then-Exxon CEO Lee 
Raymond opined that worldwide regulatory regime to address climate 
change was a singular threat to the company.  He thereafter committed 
Exxon to a multi-dimensional effort to confuse the public about climate 
science.   See  “Exxon’s 25 Year ‘Drop Dead’ Denial Campaign” in Oil 
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Change International, April 14, 2014, 
http://priceofoil.org/2014/04/14/exxons-25-year-drop-dead-denial-
campaign/.  Spreading misinformation to prop up share prices is a Martin 
Act scheme. 
   

(3) Finally, the fossil fuel companies’ stock prices are driven in large part by 
their reserves.  These are at risk of being stranded if they cannot be used.  
The companies value them as if there is no risk of stranding.  Their own 
internal analyses of climate change – consistent with their financial 
disclosure – may well show that this risk is very real and the reserves are 
therefore being overvalued.  Mismarking critical assets is a Martin Act 
violation. 

 
The NYAG’s Martin Act Authority 
 

As you said in a speech at New York Law School last year: 
 
“ . . . the Martin Act, which I hope you’ve heard of, empowers my office, and 
our Investor Protection Bureau in particular, to investigate pretty much any 
fraudulent or deceptive practice in financial dealings.” 

 
The first two paragraphs of the Martin Act (Section 352.1-2 of the NY General 

Business Law, Article 23-A) set out the NYAG’s power to investigate such deceptive 
practices and give it the tools to do so efficiently.  Obviously, the Martin Act gives the 
NYAG a mandate to investigate publicly traded securities such as fossil fuel stocks.  
It also specifically mentions energy investments, giving the NYAG jurisdiction over 
“stocks . . . including oil and mineral deeds or leases and any interest therein . . . “   

 
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
complaint, and it is clearly in the public interest for the NYAG to look into this 
matter.  
 
Martin Act Discovery 

 
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
 

The NYAG is in a position to use these unique Martin Act discovery tools to 
quickly determine whether it has a case or not, without getting buried in energy 
company documents.  Using interrogatories, the NYAG could ask for: 
 

• Identities of all outside spokespeople who address climate change 
• A list of all payments to outside entities for studies of climate change or 

advocacy on climate change 
• An explanation of how stranding risk is incorporated in the valuation of 

“proven reserves” 
• Descriptions of all capital or operational expenditures or expected 

expenditures that are based on projected changes in sea levels, polar ice 
coverage, or global temperatures 

 
In addition to the foregoing, a subpoena could be issued for (1) copies of all internal 
studies of climate change (including sea level rise, changes to ice caps and extreme 
weather events), and memoranda on how climate change or any of these 
phenomena (whether or not attributed to climate change) presents financial or 
other risks and/or opportunities to the company (2) any memoranda or other 
documents on climate change or any of these phenomena supplied to Board 
members, and (3) organizational charts or other information sufficient to show who 
at the company analyzes or projects climate change or any of these phenomena.  
This information would round out the picture without being burdensome. 
 

The responses to this discovery would be enough to let the NYAG know 
whether it has a likely case or not, and would help focus subsequent email 
discovery. 
 
Motions to Quash 
 

Your staff is concerned that the fossil fuel companies might succeed in 
motions to quash subpoenas aimed at their spreading misinformation about climate 
change.  This fear is misplaced. 

 
Motions to quash Martin Act subpoenas are rare and have never succeeded.  

A survey of reported decisions from the New York courts indicates that 17 decisions 
involving motions to quash subpoenas issued under the Martin Act have issued 
since the 1920s.  In not a single case did a court quash a Martin Act subpoena issued 
by the New York Attorney General.  Your staff was likewise unable to identify a 
single such precedent as of several weeks ago. 

 
In one 2009 opinion a New York judge quoted with approval an earlier case 

that stated “[A]ll that the Attorney General need show in the face of a motion to 
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quash is his authority, the relevance of the items sought, and some factual basis for 
his investigation.”  People of the State of New York v. Thain (Sup. Ct. N.Y. County, 
March 18, 2009) at 3.  The Thain court noted that the attorney general enjoys a 
presumption that his investigatory powers have been invoked “in good faith” and 
that he therefore is “not required to demonstrate probable cause or disclose the 
details of the pending investigation.”  Id. 
http://online.wsj.com/public/resources/documents/merrillruling20090318.pdf.   

 
As long as the NYAG’s Martin Act discovery requests relate to the 

investigation (defined by the NYAG), have some factual basis and precede the filing 
of a complaint, motions to quash are futile.  The evidence set out in this 
memorandum provides more than sufficient factual basis for the NYAG to win a 
motion to quash. 

 
Your staff has cited the 2014 Airbnb decision as an example of a successful 

motion to quash.  See Airbnb, Inc. v. Eric T. Schneiderman, Attorney General of the 
State of New York (Sup. Ct. Albany County, May 13, 2014).  
https://www.nycourts.gov/press/PDFs/AirbnbDecision.pdf.  That decision, 
however, did not involve a Martin Act subpoena, but rather an inquiry under the 
Executive Law into possible violations of the New York Multiple Dwelling Law.  The 
court in Airbnb held that there was adequate factual basis for the subpoena, but that 
it was overbroad in that it sought information clearly beyond the scope of the 
Multiple Dwelling Law (which applies to dwellings in cities with populations of 
325,000 or more and recognizes that stays of 30 days or more constitute 
“permanent residence.”).  There are no similar limiting provisions for the Martin 
Act, and the NYAG can easily craft targeted discovery (as discussed above) that will 
not be burdensome for the fossil fuel companies.  

 
Your office can reduce the chance of motions to quash ever being filed by 

sending out initial discovery requests without alerting the press.  Martin Act 
investigations can be completely confidential, so if a case fails to materialize the 
inquiry can be abandoned without publicity.  Again, the Thain court quoted an 
earlier holding that the Martin Act gives “authority in the attorney-general to direct 
whether the inquiry in its entirety be secret or public.”  Id., at 6.  Initial 
confidentiality will put the fossil fuel companies in the position of breaking the story 
themselves if they choose to fight discovery.  As public companies, they may well opt 
not to be the ones to publicize the inquiry. 

 
 
   *   *   * 
 
 Your staff has also raised concerns about (1) what showing of materiality 
would be required in an enforcement action, and (2) what relief the NYAG would 
seek in such an action.  We address each of these below. 
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
mattered to the average investor.  That standard would certainly be met by secret 
dissemination of misinformation concerning the fossil fuel companies’ risks (and the 
future of our planet). 

 
If, however, the NYAG elects to proceed on the theory that the energy 

companies are engaged in a scheme to fraudulently prop up their stock prices by 
disseminating misinformation, materiality would not necessarily have to be an 
element of the case.  The Martin Act makes any such “scheme to defraud” illegal.  
 
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
world).  Once the facts are known, the NYAG can decide to pursue restitution if 
justified. 
 
  
Conclusion 
 
 The NYAG has a unique opportunity to protect New York’s investing public 
and while so doing change the climate debate in the U.S. and beyond. It should 
pursue this matter with the full investigatory powers provided the NYAG under the 
Martin Act.  
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GREENWIRE 
 
 
COAL: 
When legally liable, companies don't dispute global warming 
Corbin Hiar and Manuel Quiñones, E&E reporters 
Published: Thursday, March 19, 2015 
 
U.S. coal companies that are publicly skeptical of man-made climate change 
acknowledge in mandatory financial disclosures the widely accepted scientific 
link between fossil fuel emissions and a warming planet, a Greenwire analysis 
has found. 
 
Sustainable investment advocates warn that such doublespeak undermines the 
industry's credibility with shareholders. And scientific integrity experts are 
critical of the coal companies' climate communication strategy, which they argue 
is detrimental to the long-term health and security of the American people. 
The highest profile practitioner of targeted climate messaging is Peabody Energy 
Corp., the world's largest private-sector coal company. Peabody produced more 
than 180 million short tons of coal -- or nearly 19 percent of national output -- in 
2013, according to U.S. Energy Information Administration data. 
Peabody repeatedly questioned climate science in its December 2014 comments 
on U.S. EPA's Clean Power Plan, a regulatory effort meant to force states to cut 
emissions of planet-warming carbon dioxide released from existing coal-fired 
power plants. 
 
"The climate science upon which EPA relies cannot sustain this dramatic step to 
remake a significant sector of the American economy," the company said in a 145-
page attack on the proposed emission limits. 
 
It then referenced the work of the Nobel Prize-winning Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change (IPCC), which EPA used to declare CO2 a pollutant. 
"Even if the IPCC report were taken at face value (and it is deeply flawed and 
should not be accepted at face value), the IPCC has steadily downgraded its 
projections since 2007. It now predicts a slow and moderate warming trend that 
the IPCC's own data and own scientists have indicated will be net beneficial to the 
world," Peabody wrote, and then noted CO2 promotes plant growth and reduces 
heating costs and cold-related health problems. 
 
Existing climate models are "fatally flawed," the company went on to assert, 
citing a divergence between predicted atmospheric warming and actual warming 
that is largely explained by increasing deep ocean temperatures. 
"These concerns cannot be brushed aside," Peabody said. 
But in the required annual performance summary the coal giant filed with the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission last month, the company appeared to 
do just that. 
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In a section of Peabody's 2014 10-K report that discusses risks that "could 
materially and adversely affect our business," the company acknowledges that 
IPCC reports have "engendered concern about the impacts of human activity, 
especially fossil fuel combustion, on global climate issues." No mention was made 
of the allegedly unreliable science that underpinned those reports from the IPCC. 
The company then said "increasing government attention is being paid to global 
climate issues and to emissions of what are commonly referred to as greenhouse 
gases, including emissions of carbon dioxide from coal combustion by power 
plants." It went on to downplay the impact any potential climate laws, regulations 
or other actions could have on its bottom line. 
 
"Outside of SEC filings, companies might feel freer to lobby," said Betty Moy 
Huber, an expert in environmental law and corporate compliance issues at Davis 
Polk & Wardwell LLP. "Within an SEC filing, there is a whole different set of 
liability standards, and they would be ill-advised to say something that cannot be 
legally backed up." 
 
Publicly traded companies tend to be candid in their 10-K filings because not 
doing so could result in litigation from investors or regulatory scrutiny if those 
annual disclosure reports are found to be misleading. 
 
'Reputation risk' 
But disclosure advocates express concern when a company's SEC filing appears to 
differ from other communications. 
"That information does not square," said Jim Coburn, a manager at the 
sustainable investment group Ceres, responding to Peabody's statements. Along 
with research group CookESG, Ceres created the SEC climate disclosure search 
tool that Greenwire used to comb through 10-Ks. 
 
"That's a real problem for the company because the company is misleading 
investors in its SEC filings," Coburn said. For investors "to understand the 
company's true stance on climate issues," they would have to seek out its EPA 
comments, as well as weigh the significance of its trade group memberships and 
political contributions, he said. 
 
The difference between the straightforward disclosures Peabody made to the SEC 
and the statements included in its EPA comments poses a "reputation risk 
problem," Coburn added. Investors may no longer believe what the company says 
about other threats to its business since -- in the case of climate change, at least -- 
it prefers to pretend that some risks don't exist, he suggested. 
 
This type of inconsistent messaging extends beyond the climate issue, according 
to industry critics. 
When mines have closed, for instance, some coal companies have loudly blamed 
the layoffs on Obama administration regulations. At the same time, however, 
they have offered a more nuanced explanation of their woes to investors, which 
are mostly the result of competition from abundant natural gas and the spread of 
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renewables. 
 
Peabody pushed back against any suggestions that the company is espousing 
contradictory views. 
"Peabody's position on carbon and climate and on the importance of continuing 
to develop clean coal technologies to address the issues has been consistent over 
time," the company said in a statement, which was limited by what it can legally 
say about its SEC disclosures. 
 
Widespread practice 
Alpha Natural Resources Inc. -- which produced nearly 9 percent of U.S. coal in 
2013, the market's fourth-highest share -- also clearly explained the link between 
global warming and fossil fuel consumption in the regulatory and legal risks 
section of its 2014 10-K filing. 
 
Kevin Crutchfield, chief executive officer of Alpha Natural Resources Inc., during 
an interview in New York in September 2014. Photo by Victor J. Blue/Bloomberg 
courtesy of Getty Images. 
"Global climate change continues to attract considerable public and scientific 
attention," Alpha said. "There is concern in particular about the emissions of 
GHGs [or greenhouse gases], such as carbon dioxide and methane." 
The company's document says, "Combustion of fossil fuels like coal and gas 
results in the creation of carbon dioxide, which is currently emitted into the 
atmosphere by coal and gas end users, such as coal-fired electric power 
generators. As a result, there have been and are expected to be numerous GHG 
emissions initiatives that could reduce the demand for coal." 
During a March 2012 event, however, Alpha CEO Kevin Crutchfield cast doubt on 
the connection between fossil fuel consumption and climate change. He declared 
that EPA limits on power plant CO2 emissions "would be hugely problematic," in 
part because of uncertainty about global warming, which 97 percent of climate 
scientists say is very likely caused by human activities. 
"It does seem like something is going on," he said in response to a question about 
climate change, according to West Virginia's Charleston Gazette. 
But he added that "the question that has to be asked is, 'Is mankind contributing 
to that?' I don't really know the answer to that." 
An Alpha spokesman did not respond to a request for comment. 
 
Companies' 'most material' risk 
The SEC issued guidance in 2010 specifically requiring companies to disclose any 
physical impacts climate change may be having on their operations 
(ClimateWire, Jan. 28, 2010). 
Environmentalists considered it a major win. But industry advocates -- both 
inside and outside the SEC -- said the science wasn't settled enough for the 
requirement, which some lawmakers tried to overturn. 
U.S. coal companies have sought to satisfy these requirements by generally 
discussing climate change in their 10-Ks in terms of current or potential 
government scrutiny. But Peabody, Alpha and other majors like Cloud Peak 
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Energy Inc. and Arch Coal Inc. tend to steer clear of climate-related 
infrastructure issues posed by sea-level rise or the potential for increasingly 
severe natural disasters. 
"It is possible that future international, federal and state initiatives to control 
GHG emissions could result in increased costs associated with coal production 
and consumption," Alliance Resource Partners LP said in one representative 
passage. 
 
Such efforts could require Alliance's utility industry customers "to install 
additional controls to reduce carbon dioxide emissions or costs to purchase 
emissions reduction credits to comply with future emissions trading programs," 
the company said in its 10-K. 
 
Bob Murray speaking to reporters in August 2007 near Huntington, Utah. Photo 
by Justin Sullivan courtesy of Getty Images. 
Huber said the SEC requires companies to disclose material impacts related to 
climate change. "Much of it is judgment," she said, "of what a company believes is 
material." 
 
Beyond physical impacts, Huber said companies must also report whether rules 
and regulations could hurt the bottom line. For U.S. coal companies, climate 
change regulations may indeed be "the most material item," she said. 
A 2013 Congressional Research Service report, citing other studies -- including 
ones conducted by Ceres and Davis Polk -- said the new SEC guidance had not 
dramatically changed the reporting habits of many companies. It also suggested 
the SEC was not cracking down on those who didn't follow the guidelines. 
The guidance, however, does not apply to Murray Energy Corp., which is also 
among the largest U.S. coal producers. The company's private ownership means 
it doesn't have to file annual disclosure reports with the SEC. 
That has left CEO Robert Murray free to offer unrelenting criticism of the climate 
change science without ever having to show how or if his company is preparing 
for global warming. 
 
"In the late 1980s, environmental alarmists and liberal politicians and elitists 
attempted to scare us with the terrible consequences of 'acid rain,'" Murray said 
during a speech last year. "Today, their platform is 'global warming.'" 
 
Earning shareholder trust 
Not all extraction companies focus on regulatory burdens when talking about 
global warming. International mining giant Rio Tinto PLC, for example, has long 
been outspoken about the impacts of climate change on its operations. 
"We operate in a complex and interconnected world where global and local issues 
-- such as biodiversity, climate change, livelihoods, and regional economic 
development -- bring both risk and opportunity to the design, development and 
management of our operations," its most recent annual report told investors. 
"Mining, smelting, refining and infrastructure installations are vulnerable to 
natural events including earthquakes, subsidence, drought, flood, fire, storm and 
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climate change," the report says. 
 
Huber, the corporate-compliance attorney, said companies with a strong 
European presence tend to be more vocal about potential physical climate change 
impacts, responding to investor wishes. "As compared to U.S. companies, it is 
more important to them, and they are more conscious about it," she said, "and 
the reporting tends to be more fulsome and varied." 
Coal companies could better earn shareholders' trust, said Ceres' Coburn, by 
being more candid about the risk climate change poses to their businesses, not 
just associated with regulations. 
 
That was the main message Ceres and a group of 70 global investors managing 
more than $3 trillion of collective assets delivered to 45 fossil fuel-dependent 
corporations almost two years ago (ClimateWire, Oct. 25, 2013). 
While companies have a right to vocally oppose regulations they believe could 
harm shareholders, they shouldn't do so by spreading misinformation, said 
Gretchen Goldman, lead analyst at the Center for Science and Democracy, a 
Union of Concerned Scientists project. 
"They do not have a right to misrepresent scientific facts," Goldman said. "This is 
an issue that has seen a tremendous amount of misinformation, and so for them 
to be spreading that misinformation or otherwise supporting misrepresentations 
of climate science is immoral and not appropriate." 
Twitter: @corbinhiar | Email: chiar@eenews.net 
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From: Steven Glassman
Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 1:45 PM
To: Micah Lasher
Cc: Alvin Bragg; Janet Sabel; Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: RE: follow up

I’ve reviewed this latest incarnation of the fossil fuel company climate change subpoena suggestion, and can 
give you my reaction whenever you’re interested. 
 

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
Sent: Wednesday, September 16, 2015 1:45 PM
To: Alvin Bragg; Janet Sabel; Steven Glassman; Lemuel Srolovic
Cc: Simon Brandler
Subject: Fwd: big news
Attachments: 9FFC3469-8ADD-4D30-A674-692287935301[143].png

 
 

 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> 
Date: September 16, 2015 at 9:57:55 AM EDT 
To: Micah Lasher <Micah.Lasher@ag.ny.gov> 
Subject: big news 

Exxon’s own scientists knew since at least ‘80s that climate was real. More to come. Hope you’re well. 
 
http://insideclimatenews.org/news/15092015/Exxons-own-research-confirmed-fossil-fuels-
role-in-global-warming 
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 

 
  m        m    m  m    V           
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From: Micah Lasher
Sent: Friday, September 18, 2015 3:48 PM
To: Simon Brandler; Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: Fwd: more background
Attachments: 9FFC3469-8ADD-4D30-A674-692287935301[173].png

 
 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> 
Date: September 18, 2015 at 3:41:13 PM EDT 
To: Micah Lasher <Micah.Lasher@ag.ny.gov> 
Cc: Bill Lipton <blipton@workingfamilies.org>, Daniel Cantor <dcantor@workingfamilies.org> 
Subject: more background 

 
Some context:  
http://www.newyorker.com/news/daily‐comment/what‐exxon‐knew‐about‐climate‐change 
 
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 

 
  m        m    m  m    V           
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From: Micah Lasher
Sent: Thursday, October 29, 2015 11:08 AM
To: Steven Glassman; Lemuel Srolovic; Simon Brandler; Alvin Bragg; Janet Sabel
Subject: Fwd: Exxon
Attachments: 9FFC3469-8ADD-4D30-A674-692287935301[903].png

 
 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> 
Date: October 29, 2015 at 11:01:12 AM EDT 
To: "Micah.Lasher@ag.ny.gov" <Micah.Lasher@ag.ny.gov> 
Subject: Exxon 

http://seekingalpha.com/article/3618726‐making‐the‐legal‐case‐against‐exxon‐mobil 
 
 
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 

 
  m        m    m  m    V           
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From: Karla Sanchez
Sent: Monday, November 9, 2015 11:57 AM
To: Micah Lasher; Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: FW: follow up
Attachments: NYAG 4-15-15F1(2).docx; ATT00001.htm

Do either of you have the paper they refer to about the “overview of the fossil fuel industry’s ongoing campaign to 
promote uncertainty around climate science”? 
 

Karla  
 

From: Micah Lasher  
Sent: Friday, November 06, 2015 2:25 PM 
To: Karla Sanchez 
Subject: Fwd: follow up 
 
 
 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Micah Lasher <Micah.Lasher@ag.ny.gov> 
Date: July 10, 2015 at 2:12:43 PM EDT 
To: Simon Brandler <Simon.Brandler@ag.ny.gov> 
Subject: Fwd: follow up 

 

 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> 
Date: April 22, 2015 at 1:35:55 PM MDT 
To: Micah Lasher <Micah.Lasher@ag.ny.gov> 
Subject: follow up 

Dear Micah, 
Thanks for your consideration of the issues we’ve been discussing. I had hoped to 
have sent the attached memo to the AG earlier. We hope you will the opportunity 
to review the memo and share with him.  
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
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From: Larry Shapiro <lshapiro@rffund.org>
Sent: Tuesday, December 15, 2015 1:20 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Cc: Lee Wasserman; 'Lisa Hamilton (lisa_a_hamilton@yahoo.com)'
Subject: E&E:  After N.Y. legal deal, Peabody ignores climate change in SEC filing

Hi Lem, 
 
You probably saw this, but if not, fyi. 
 

After N.Y. legal deal, Peabody ignores climate change in SEC filing 
Benjamin Hulac, E&E reporter 
Published: Tuesday, December 15, 2015 

Peabody Energy Corp. announced plans yesterday to raise $1 billion from investors but did not mention climate change or 
emissions-cutting policies as investment risks. That exclusion came one month after Peabody finalized an agreement with New 
York's attorney general to file updated public documents about its financial hazards related to climate change and potential 
climate regulations. 

In the document filed yesterday with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Peabody did not reference climate change, 
greenhouse gases, carbon emissions, global warming or any comparable terms or phrases. 

The St. Louis-headquartered company, the largest publicly traded coal company in the world, listed competition from natural 
gas and renewable energy as risk factors to would-be investors, as well as "new environmental" regulations -- a general term 
that could apply to more than climate change. 

The document also broadly warns investors that "legislation, regulations and court decisions or other government actions" could 
harm business. The word "environmental" appears once in the 229-page filing. 

Announcing a resolution between his office and Peabody, New York Attorney General Eric Schneiderman (D) said Nov. 9 that 
Peabody misled the public and investors about how climate change and regulation to curb emissions could affect the company -- 
behavior that violated state laws. 

The company, for example, predicted that "aggressive" regulations for existing power plants and electric generation in the 
United States could cut into its coal sales by 33 percent or more but kept that information private, according to the attorney 
general's office. 

As part of the November agreement, Schneiderman said Peabody would file new SEC disclosures that "accurately and 
objectively represent" climate risks. 

"Peabody has agreed that all future statements to shareholders and the public will be consistent with the terms of its agreement 
with the attorney general's office and the disclosures it will file with the SEC," Schneiderman's office said in November. 

Company defends 'routine' document 

Asked why the document detailing the sale of $1 billion in securities did not mention climate change and related financial risks, 
a Peabody spokesman issued the following response toClimateWire: "The shelf statement is a routine filing and replaces a prior 
shelf statement that expired in October. It incorporates by reference other filings such as the latest quarterly 10Q." (A shelf 
statement is a financial technique that lets public companies offer securities "off the shelf" to investors.) 

Schneiderman said the investigation that resulted in the recent resolution began in 2013. 
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That investigation found Peabody had been including an International Energy Agency forecast in its investor guidance favorable 
to coal demand, while omitting two other IEA scenarios that forecast a far bleaker future for global coal consumption. 

That forecast was "based on an assumption that governments will fail to adopt any new policies or regulations to reduce the 
amount of climate change pollution." 

In June 2007, when Gov. Andrew Cuomo (D) was state attorney general, his office subpoenaed Peabody for information about 
the firm's "disclosure to investors of risks associated with possible climate change and related legislation and regulations," 
according to Peabody. 

"Concerns about the environmental impacts of coal combustion" and increased coal regulation, Peabody said Feb. 25, "could 
significantly affect demand for our products and securities." 

Following the Paris climate accord reached during the weekend, Peabody shares finished the day down 13 percent at $7.66. 

 
 
Larry Shapiro 
Associate Director for Program Development 
Rockefeller Family Fund 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 
New York, NY 10115 

 
Email:   lshapiro@rffund.org 
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From: Lemuel Srolovic
Sent: Wednesday, December 16, 2015 8:49 AM
To: Larry Shapiro
Subject: Re: E&E:  After N.Y. legal deal, Peabody ignores climate change in SEC filing

Larry ‐‐ I did indeed but thank you.  Happy holidays!   Lem.  
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
On Dec 15, 2015, at 1:20 PM, Larry Shapiro <lshapiro@rffund.org> wrote: 

Hi Lem, 
  
You probably saw this, but if not, fyi. 
  

After N.Y. legal deal, Peabody ignores climate change in SEC filing 
Benjamin Hulac, E&E reporter 
Published: Tuesday, December 15, 2015 

Peabody Energy Corp. announced plans yesterday to raise $1 billion from investors but did not mention 
climate change or emissions-cutting policies as investment risks. That exclusion came one month after 
Peabody finalized an agreement with New York's attorney general to file updated public documents about its 
financial hazards related to climate change and potential climate regulations. 

In the document filed yesterday with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Peabody did not reference 
climate change, greenhouse gases, carbon emissions, global warming or any comparable terms or phrases. 

The St. Louis-headquartered company, the largest publicly traded coal company in the world, listed 
competition from natural gas and renewable energy as risk factors to would-be investors, as well as "new 
environmental" regulations -- a general term that could apply to more than climate change. 

The document also broadly warns investors that "legislation, regulations and court decisions or other 
government actions" could harm business. The word "environmental" appears once in the 229-page filing. 

Announcing a resolution between his office and Peabody, New York Attorney General Eric Schneiderman (D) 
said Nov. 9 that Peabody misled the public and investors about how climate change and regulation to curb 
emissions could affect the company -- behavior that violated state laws. 

The company, for example, predicted that "aggressive" regulations for existing power plants and electric 
generation in the United States could cut into its coal sales by 33 percent or more but kept that information 
private, according to the attorney general's office. 

As part of the November agreement, Schneiderman said Peabody would file new SEC disclosures that 
"accurately and objectively represent" climate risks. 

"Peabody has agreed that all future statements to shareholders and the public will be consistent with the terms 
of its agreement with the attorney general's office and the disclosures it will file with the SEC," 
Schneiderman's office said in November. 

Company defends 'routine' document 
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Asked why the document detailing the sale of $1 billion in securities did not mention climate change and 
related financial risks, a Peabody spokesman issued the following response toClimateWire: "The shelf 
statement is a routine filing and replaces a prior shelf statement that expired in October. It incorporates by 
reference other filings such as the latest quarterly 10Q." (A shelf statement is a financial technique that lets 
public companies offer securities "off the shelf" to investors.) 

Schneiderman said the investigation that resulted in the recent resolution began in 2013. 

That investigation found Peabody had been including an International Energy Agency forecast in its investor 
guidance favorable to coal demand, while omitting two other IEA scenarios that forecast a far bleaker future 
for global coal consumption. 

That forecast was "based on an assumption that governments will fail to adopt any new policies or regulations 
to reduce the amount of climate change pollution." 

In June 2007, when Gov. Andrew Cuomo (D) was state attorney general, his office subpoenaed Peabody for 
information about the firm's "disclosure to investors of risks associated with possible climate change and 
related legislation and regulations," according to Peabody. 

"Concerns about the environmental impacts of coal combustion" and increased coal regulation, Peabody said 
Feb. 25, "could significantly affect demand for our products and securities." 

Following the Paris climate accord reached during the weekend, Peabody shares finished the day down 13 
percent at $7.66. 

  
  
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
Sent: Tuesday, December 22, 2015 6:39 PM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: FYI

http://insideclimatenews.org/news/22122015/exxon-mobil-oil-industry-peers-knew-about-climate-
change-dangers-1970s-american-petroleum-institute-api-shell-chevron-texaco 
 
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 
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From: Lemuel Srolovic
Sent: Tuesday, December 22, 2015 9:40 PM
To: Lee Wasserman
Subject: Re: FYI

Thanks, Lee.  
 
Happy holidays!    
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
On Dec 22, 2015, at 6:39 PM, Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> wrote: 

http://insideclimatenews.org/news/22122015/exxon‐mobil‐oil‐industry‐peers‐knew‐about‐climate‐
change‐dangers‐1970s‐american‐petroleum‐institute‐api‐shell‐chevron‐texaco 
 
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 

 
<9FFC3469-8ADD-4D30-A674-692287935301[189].png> 
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From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org>
Sent: Wednesday, December 23, 2015 12:37 AM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: Re: FYI

Same to you Lem. Hope you get some time off. 
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 

 

 
 
 
 

From: Lemuel Srolovic <Lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov> 
Date: Tuesday, December 22, 2015 at 9:40 PM 
To: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> 
Subject: Re: FYI 

 
Thanks, Lee.  
 
Happy holidays!    
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
On Dec 22, 2015, at 6:39 PM, Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> wrote: 

http://insideclimatenews.org/news/22122015/exxon-mobil-oil-industry-peers-knew-
about-climate-change-dangers-1970s-american-petroleum-institute-api-shell-chevron-
texaco 
 
 
Lee Wasserman 
Director 
475 Riverside Drive, Suite 900 | New York, NY 10115 

 
<9FFC3469-8ADD-4D30-A674-692287935301[189].png> 
 
 

 
IMPORTANT NOTICE: This e-mail, including any attachments, may be confidential, privileged or 
otherwise legally protected. It is intended only for the addressee. If you received this e-mail in error or 
from someone who was not authorized to send it to you, do not disseminate, copy or otherwise use 
this e-mail or its attachments. Please notify the sender immediately by reply e-mail and delete the e-
mail from your system.  
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From: Lemuel Srolovic
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 8:52 AM
To: Lee Wasserman
Subject: Re: One more 

Thanks, Lee.  
 
Happy new year and all the best in 2016.    
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
> On Dec 31, 2015, at 6:46 AM, Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> wrote: 
>  
> Before year's end.  
> http://graphics.latimes.com/oil‐operations/ 
>  
> Happy New Year  
>  
> Lee Wasserman  
> Rockefeller Family Fund 

FOIL G000617-091423    000227



1

From: Lemuel Srolovic
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 8:53 AM
To: Monica Wagner; Mandy DeRoche; Alan Belensz; Philip Bein; Laura Heslin; Kevin Olson
Subject: Fwd: One more 

Latest from LA Times.   
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> 
Date: December 31, 2015 at 6:46:12 AM EST 
To: Lemuel Srolovic <Lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov> 
Subject: One more  

Before year's end.  
http://graphics.latimes.com/oil‐operations/ 
 
Happy New Year  
 
Lee Wasserman  
Rockefeller Family Fund 
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From: Philip Bein
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 9:09 AM
To: Lemuel Srolovic
Subject: RE: One more 

Lem, I had called earlier in the week to talk about Peabody.  Are you working today? 
 
 
Philip Bein 
Watershed Inspector General 
New York State Attorney General’s Office 
The Capitol 
Albany, New York 12224 

 
 

From: Lemuel Srolovic  
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 8:53 AM 
To: Monica Wagner; Mandy DeRoche; Alan Belensz; Philip Bein; Laura Heslin; Kevin Olson 
Subject: Fwd: One more  
 
Latest from LA Times.   
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Lee Wasserman <lwasserman@rffund.org> 
Date: December 31, 2015 at 6:46:12 AM EST 
To: Lemuel Srolovic <Lemuel.Srolovic@ag.ny.gov> 
Subject: One more  

Before year's end.  
http://graphics.latimes.com/oil-operations/ 
 
Happy New Year  
 
Lee Wasserman  
Rockefeller Family Fund 
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From: Alan Belensz
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 9:26 AM
To: Lemuel Srolovic; Monica Wagner; Mandy DeRoche; Philip Bein; Laura Heslin; Kevin Olson
Subject: RE: One more 

Wow, much here to digest.   
 

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
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 9:27 AM
To: Philip Bein
Subject: Re: One more 

No but I can call you in a few mins if that's good.   
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
On Dec 31, 2015, at 9:09 AM, Philip Bein <Philip.Bein@ag.ny.gov> wrote: 

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

fine 
 
 
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
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From: Monica Wagner
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 10:01 AM
To: Alan Belensz; Lemuel Srolovic; Mandy DeRoche; Philip Bein; Laura Heslin
Subject: RE: One more 

It’s jampacked.  Have we heard of the Waves and Storms of the North Atlantic Group? 
 

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
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 10:25 AM
To: Monica Wagner; Lemuel Srolovic; Mandy DeRoche; Philip Bein; Laura Heslin
Subject: RE: One more 
Attachments: WASA Waves and Storms Group.pdf

It appears the WASA Group consisted of a group of European researchers evaluating the potential for increased 
storminess in the North Atlantic.  A 1998 paper listing the scientific researchers is attached. 
 
 

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
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1. Background

In the public debate concerning climate change due
to increasing concentrations of radiatively active gases
into the atmosphere, many people are concerned about
the possibility of an intensification of extratropical
storms. Even though the Intergovernmental Panel on
Climate Change (IPCC) took a cautious stand in this
matter because of lack of evidence (Houghton et al.
1990; Houghton et al. 1992; Houghton et al. 1996),
a mixture of indirect evidence (van Hooff 1993;
Hogben 1994) and misleading scientific statements
(Schinke 1992) created a substantial uneasiness in
the public (Berz 1992; Berz and Conrad 1994;
Greenpeace 1994). The offshore oil industry in the
North Sea was confronted with reports of extreme
waves higher than had ever been observed. The insur-
ance industry organized meetings with scientists
because of greatly increased storm-related damages.
Newspapers in northern Europe were full of specula-
tions about the enhanced threat of extratropical storms
in early 1993.

In this atmosphere the Norwegian Meteorological
Institute organized two workshops, “Climate Trends
and Future Offshore Design and Operation Criteria,”
in Reykjavik and Bergen, bringing together people
from the oil industry, certification agencies, and sci-
entists to discuss the reality of a worsening of the wave
and storm climate. The workshops did not issue defi-
nite statements, but the general impression was that
hard evidence for a worsening of the storm and wave
climate was not available (for a summary see von
Storch et al. 1994). A group of workshop participants
then established the Waves and Storms in the North
Atlantic (WASA) project.

In the present paper the results obtained in WASA
are summarized and the main conclusions are drawn.
The results are documented in detail in a series of
papers (Alexandersson et al. 1998; Bauer et al. 1996;
Beersma et al. 1997; Bijl 1997; Kaas et al. 1996; Rider
et al. 1996; Schmith 1995; Schmith et al. 1997;
Schmith et al. 1998; Günther et al. 1998; Schmidt and
von Storch 1993; von Storch and Reichardt 1997;
Bouws et al. 1996). Preliminary assessments were
published by von Storch et al. (1994) and WASA
(1994, 1995). Part of the work reported here also origi-
nates from studies outside of WASA.

The present paper is organized as follows. In sec-
tion 2 the fundamental methodological problem of
WASA is addressed, namely, the presence of creep-
ing inhomogeneities. These inhomogeneities render

the seemingly most suitable collections of weather
maps useless for the description of trends and inter-
decadal variability in storm and storm-related statis-
tics. Instead local data, unaffected by improving
analysis procedures, are studied. Two variables seem
to be little affected by instrumental and environmen-
tal changes, namely, air pressure and sea level varia-
tions around a multiyear mean. We present time series
of intrayearly statistics of geostrophic winds, air pres-
sure tendencies, and variances of storm-related water
level variations in section 3.

In the case of the wave climate, analyses, such as
ship routing maps derived manually from wind analy-
ses, suffer to an unknown degree from inhomogene-
ities. Local observations are sparse and have achieved
a high level of high and uniform accuracy only in the
past 10 years or so. Prior to, say, 1980, the observa-
tional techniques have changed from visual assess-
ment to shipborn instruments, which in their early days
covered only part of the energy spectrum (and thus un-
derestimated the significant wave height, which is pro-
portional to the integral over the energy spectrum).
Thus, in the WASA project a strategy suggested by
Kushnir et al. (1995) and Kushnir et al. (1997) was
adopted, namely, of first generating a consistent
dataset describing the variations of the wave field for
40 yr with a state-of-the-art wave model and multiyear
wind analyses. The simulated wave data in areas where
the wind forcing is thought to be sufficiently homo-
geneous is considered as “substitute reality.” In sec-
tion 4 the model simulation and the results obtained
within the 40 yr of simulation in the “homogeneity”
area (around the British Isles, the Bay of Biscay, and
the North Sea) are presented. In section 5 the substi-
tute reality wave statistics are linked to monthly mean
air pressure analyses, which have been collected since
1899 and are thought to be sufficiently homogeneous
(Trenberth and Paolino 1980). This is done for two
locations in the northern and central North Sea (oil
fields Ekofisk and Brent). With the help of this regres-
sion model and the observed monthly mean air pres-
sure fields, a best guess of wave statistics earlier in this
century is derived.

In section 6 possible implications of an increased
CO

2
 concentrations in the atmosphere on storminess,

wave, and storm surge statistics are examined.
Specifically, a high-resolution (T106) paired atmo-
spheric GCM time-slice experiment on the impact of
doubled CO

2
 concentrations in the atmosphere is stud-

ied. The simulated change in storminess is discussed,
and the impact of this (moderate) change in stormi-
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ness on waves and storm surge statistics, as estimated
through dynamical wave and storm surge models as
well as through the regression model derived in sec-
tion 5, are presented.

In the concluding section, the main results are sum-
marized and the major caveats of the analysis are listed
and discussed.

2. The problem of homogeneity

a. General
The methodological challenge with the analysis of

historical datasets is the discrimination between sig-
nals, reflecting real changes as opposed to changes due
to changing instrumental accuracies, environmental
conditions, observational practices, and analysis rou-
tines. We call a dataset homogeneous if it is free of
such artificial contaminations. Inhomogeneities, that
is, changing nonphysical factors influencing the
weather analyses, can be characterized as being either
creeping or sudden (Karl et al. 1993; Jones 1995).

Creeping inhomogeneities are present in opera-
tional analyses, which are prepared with operational
weather forecast schemes subject to ongoing improve-
ments of the numerical weather prediction model.
Another source of creeping inhomogeneities consists
of ongoing modifications in the observational net-
work, be they changes in the density of stations or the
replacement of instruments. For instance, the avail-
ability of satellite imagery and reports from intercon-
tinental flights in the 1960s may have persuaded
human weather analysts and forecasters to describe a
low pressure system over the Atlantic as being more
intense than when they had only ship observations as
was the case in the 1950s. The number of forecasters
that wholeheartedly accepted this additional informa-
tion may have gradually increased as more conserva-
tive forecasters retired and were replaced by younger
colleagues. In marine weather statistics, based on re-
ports from voluntary observing ships, creeping inho-
mogeneities are brought into the analysis procedure
by gradually changing ship routing routines and by in-
creasing ship speeds and heights and other aspects.
The standard technique for identifying such creeping
inhomogeneities is to compare the suspected time se-
ries with data from neighboring stations known not
to be affected by the inhomogeneity (Alexandersson
1986; Alexandersson and Moberg 1997). However,
such neighboring stations are not always available,
particularly in marine weather data.

Sudden inhomogeneities are introduced by abrupt,
often documented, changes in the analysis scheme.
Such changes may include the change from manual to
automatic analysis techniques, the rectification of out-
right errors in the analysis procedure, or the creation
or the withdrawal of an observational platform in a
data-sparse area (such as ocean weather stations). If
sudden changes are not already known from the docu-
mentation, they may often be identified by screening
the time series for jumps in the moments of the time
series calculated for moving windows.

b. Storm climate
When assessing the temporal evolution of the

storm climate, principly two different types of data
may be considered. One source of information is the
archive of weather maps, which covers about 100
years. Indeed, several attempts have been made to
count the number of storms, stratified after the mini-
mum core pressure, in the course of time (Schinke
1992; Stein and Hense 1994). These studies are use-
ful in describing the year-to-year fluctuations for a
period of, say, 10 years. However, for a longer perspec-
tive this approach is rendered inconclusive simply
because the quality of weather maps has steadily im-
proved. Thus any steady worsening of the storm cli-
mate apparent in the weather maps (as reported by
Schinke 1992) might reflect a real signal or might re-
sult from the ever-increasing quality of the operational
analyses due to more and better observations, more
powerful diagnostic tools, and other improvements in
the monitoring of the state of the troposphere. A more
detailed mapping of the pressure distribution, how-
ever, automatically yields deeper lows. This problem
is severe for weather maps; when dealing with monthly
mean maps, the inhomogeneity becomes less signifi-
cant because of the greater smoothness of monthly
mean fields.

The inhomogeneity problem is illustrated by Fig. 1,
in which the ratio of high-pass filtered standard devia-
tions of air pressure variations in winter in the decade
1984–93 and in the 9-yr interval 1955–63, as derived
from the Norwegian Meteorological Institute (DNMI)
analyses (see section 5), is plotted. Variability obvi-
ously increased since the 1950s in areas where few or
no in situ observations are routinely available; this
increase is likely to be spurious. Note the local maxi-
mum of enhanced variability, with a ratio > 1.1, in the
data-sparse area between Svalbard and Greenland and
over Greenland. Of course, this increase may be real,
but it is suspicious that it takes place in areas of little
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high quality observational data. Note that the compari-
son with observed records is often inconclusive as
these data have entered the analysis, so that they do
not offer independent information about the success
of the analysis for providing useful information in
data-void areas and time intervals. Furthermore, the
local “observations,” which are sometimes not instru-
mental observations but reports based on subjective
assessments (wind force estimated from wave
heights), may already suffer from the creeping inho-
mogeneities (cf. Peterson and Hasse 1987), which are
then inherited by the 2D mapped analysis.

Any analysis of changes of the storm climate
should be supported by an analysis of local obser-
vations that are unaffected by improvements in the
process of mapping the weather. A good parameter
would be wind speed, since it relates directly to dam-
ages and impact of waves and surges. However, wind

observations—either determined instrumentally or
estimated—are usually of limited value due to inho-
mogeneities such as the change of scale, change of ob-
server, change of surroundings, etc. (cf. Peterson and
Hasse 1987).

Therefore one must look for other and more homo-
geneous proxies for storminess. An obvious choice is
to base these on station air pressure, the time series of
which are considered to be rather homogeneous be-
cause more or less the same instrument (mercury ba-
rometer) and procedures have been used throughout
the entire observation period.

From air pressure several proxies for storminess
may be formed, namely, the annual (seasonal,
monthly) distribution of the geostrophic wind speed
derived from three stations in a triangle (Schmidt and
von Storch 1993; see section 3a) or the annual (sea-
sonal, monthly) distribution of the pressure minima or
tendencies, possibly after suppressing the nonsynoptic
variations by means of a digital filter (Schmith 1995;
Kaas et al. 1996) (see section 3b). Also the frequen-
cies of “pressure events,” such as pressure readings
below a threshold, geostrophic winds, or pressure
changes larger than a threshold, may serve as a mea-
sure of storminess.

Alexandersson et al. (1998) compared the differ-
ent measures for the geostrophic wind triangle
“Bergen–Stockholm–Nordby” (for the locations, see
Fig. 2) and for the station Oksøy in the middle of the
triangle. Using data from 1881 to 1995, Alexandersson
et al. (1998) calculated correlations between annual
99% and 95% percentiles of geostrophic winds (la-
beled p% in the following table), the frequency of geo-
strophic winds above 25 m s−1 (F

25
) and of the

frequency of 24-h pressure tendencies (|∆
p
| > 16 hPa)

and of deep pressure readings (p < 980) at Oksøy.

95% F
25

|∆
p
| p < 980

99% 0.75 0.90 0.38 0.08

95% 0.64 0.44 0.15

F
25

0.34 0.07

|∆
p
| 0.35

The indices related to pressure gradients (99%,
95%, and F

25
) are well correlated, whereas the fre-

quency of deep pressure readings (p < 980) is only
loosely linked, which may in part be due to the fact

FIG. 1. Ratio of synoptic-scale standard deviation of air pres-
sure variations in winter (DJF) as derived from DNMI analyses
in the decade 1984–93 and in the decade 1955–63. The analyses
in the marked area south of 70°N and east of 20°W seem to be
relatively homogeneous.
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that the large-scale low-frequency
variability of air pressure shifts local
pressure distributions to smaller or
larger values without necessarily af-
fecting the storm regime. This finding
casts additional doubts on the ap-
proach of counting “deep cyclones,”
as a deep core pressure is not neces-
sarily connected with a strong spatial
or temporal gradient.

Another homogeneous proxy data
time series is provided by high-
frequency sea level variations at a tide
gauge. The variance of such variations
is controlled by the variance of the
synoptic atmospheric disturbances
(see section 3c).

The proxy data geostrophic wind,
high-frequency pressure tendency,
and sea level variations cannot be
used to reliably estimate actual wind
speeds; however, changes in the an-
nual (monthly) distributions of the
wind speed are well reflected with simi-
lar changes in the distributions of
geostrophic wind speed. This is dem-
onstrated in Fig. 3 by a percentile–per-
centile plot of 5 yr of daily wind speeds (observed at
a station) and daily geostrophic wind speeds (derived
with the triangle method using three surrounding pres-
sure readings). Thus changes of statistical moments
and percentiles of the wind speed distribution may be
deduced from changes of the same statistical moments
of the geostrophic wind speed distribution.

c. Wave climate
Data about wave height are available from reports

of visual assessments from ships of opportunity and
lighthouses, from wave rider buoys and shipborne
wave recorders at ocean weather stations; also wave
height maps have been constructed for the purpose of
ship routing from wind analyses. These data are sparse
and suffer from inhomogeneities of various kinds (cf.
WASA 1994). Analyses of these data have revealed a
substantial worsening of the wave climate in the North
Atlantic (Neu 1984; Carter and Draper 1988; Bacon
and Carter 1991; Hogben 1994; Bouws et al. 1996).

A recent estimate is offered by Bouws et al. (1996),
who studied operational analysis of wave analysis pre-
pared by the Koninklijk Nederlands Meteorologisch
Instituut (KNMI) Ship Routing Office from 1961 to

1987. The procedure for preparing the analyses did not
change in the course of time, but the data used as base
material for the analyses did change. Thus, the KNMI
wave charts suffer from similar hidden inhomogeneities
as the DNMI pressure analyses. Thus, any trend de-
rived from the KNMI wave charts should be considered
as an upper bound and not as an unbiased best guess.

For a box west off Ireland, in 50°–55°N, 20°–
10°W, maximum wave heights were read from the
wave charts (1961–87) and annual percentiles (labeled
99% and 90% in the following table) as well as the
annual maximum (max) were determined. From these
annual time series, the mean heights and mean annual
changes were calculated.

Max 99% 90%

Time mean (m) 11.1 8.7 5.8

Change 1961–87

cm yr−1 3.8 2.7 3.8

% yr−1 0.3 0.3 0.7

FIG. 2. Location of in situ data used in the WASA studies. Locations explicitly
used in the present paper are marked by their names. Dots represent pressure gauges
used for geostrophic wind calculations by Alexandersson et al. (1998). Triangles:
Tide gauges for which high water level percentiles were calculated, and offshore
stations and ocean weather stations. Geostrophic triangles used in the present ar-
ticle are marked by dotted lines; the wave chart area west of Ireland is marked by
hatching.
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These numbers show changes considerably smaller
than those given by others, such as Neu (1984), Bacon
and Carter (1991), who report increases of the order
of more than 1% yr−1. We will later see in section 4b
that the WASA reconstructions return even smaller
trends in that area.

Using a downscaling approach, Kushnir et al.
(1995) and Kushnir et al. (1997) built an empirical
model relating wave hindcast data, generated with
10 yr of European Centre for Medium-Range Weather
Forecasts (ECMWF) analyses of surface winds, with
the mean air pressure field. This statistical model was
then used to estimate the mean wave field from the air
pressure field from 1962 onward. This procedure con-
firmed the presence of an increase in wave heights
during the past few decades as inferred from the ob-
servational data. In the present paper a similar ap-
proach is pursued.

3. Analysis of the historical storm
climate

In the next sections we deal in some detail with
time series of intraannual percentiles and pressure ten-
dencies. In the last subsection, we discuss two time se-
ries derived from tide gauges at the southern and
eastern North Sea coast.

a. Geostrophic wind analyses
For 20 stations (see dots in

Fig. 2) situated in northwestern
Europe and the northeast Atlan-
tic, the WASA project identified
an uninterrupted pressure record
of three or four daily observa-
tions for about the last 100 yr that
could be homogenized. (The in-
fluence of changing instruments
and gradually changing environ-
ments are less severe in case of
air pressure measurements, but
there are several other sources of
potential inhomogeneities, such
as relocations with a vertical dis-
placement of the instrument or
changing observational times.)

For these stations, triangles
were set up and daily geo-
strophic winds were derived.
Time series of annual 95% and
99% quantiles for various tri-

angles are presented by Alexandersson et al. (1998)
and for a triangle in the German Bight by Schmidt and
von Storch (1993). They all exhibit marked interdec-
adal variability, with an intensification in the past de-
cades. The findings are summarized by Figs. 4 and 5,
which show standardized annual quantiles time series
for triangles in the Scandinavian–Finland Baltic Sea
region (Fig. 4) and in the British Isles–North Sea–
Norwegian Sea region (Fig. 5). The quantiles are stan-
dardized; that is, for each triangle and each percentile,
first the long-term mean and the standard deviation are
determined, then the mean is subtracted and the time
series is divided by the standard deviation.

There has indeed been an increase in the strong
geostrophic wind speeds in the past decades, but this
increase does not appear to be alarming when com-
pared with conditions earlier in this century and at the
end of the last century. There is a considerable amount
of interdecadal variability, and an assessment using
only data from 1960 onward leads to misleading re-
sult of dramatic increases.

Note that the interdecadal variability in the two
considered quantiles are very similar, indicating that
the annual geostrophic wind speed distribution is not
becoming broader or narrower but is shifting as a
whole to smaller or larger values.

Mietus (1995) examined annual mean geostrophic
wind speeds derived from the triangle “Jan Mayen–

FIG. 3. Percentile–percentile plot of station wind speed and geostrophic wind speed for a
Danish station, derived from 5 yr of daily data.
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Svalbard–Bjørnøya” in the northernmost
North Atlantic and likewise found an
upward trend from 1960 onward, with a
magnitude of 2 (cm s−1) yr.

An important factor characteristic for
the large-scale state of the atmospheric
circulation in the North Atlantic area is
the North Atlantic oscillation (NAO)
(van Loon and Rogers 1978; Hurrell
1995), so that it appears plausible that the
identified variations in storm frequency
may be related to variations in the NAO.
This is really the case, but the correla-
tions are not large although statistically
significant: For the 95 and 99 percentiles
in Fig. 4 the correlations are only 0.49
and 0.37 only and, similarly, for Fig. 5,
only 0.56 and 0.38.

b. Pressure tendency analysis
Kaas et al. (1996) calculated 12-h

absolute pressure tendencies for eight
North Atlantic–Scandinavian stations for
the period 1961–87. By means of a
downscaling technique utilizing canoni-
cal correlation, the monthly mean (win-
ter months only) of these absolute
pressure tendencies for each station were
related to North Atlantic monthly mean.
The relations found were used to hindcast
the time series of monthly means of ab-
solute pressure tendency for the period
1903–87. For two of the stations the pres-
sure tendencies could be calculated di-
rectly from observations so a direct
comparison between observed/hind-
casted values was possible. The result of
this exercise is shown in Fig. 6 with a
low-frequency appearance similar to that
found for the geostrophic wind speed
curves in Fig. 5.

The method was developed further in
Schmith et al. (1998). However, the scope was some-
what different: namely, to investigate in detail the
hypothesis that high-frequency variability and low-
frequency variability of the mean sea level pressure
are closely interlinked.

For eight stations in the North Atlantic (Schmith
et al. 1997) 24-h tendencies were calculated, and for
each winter during the period 1875–1995 50%, 10%, and
1% exceedance levels were calculated. The time se-

FIG. 5. Standardized annual 95% (diamonds and full line) and 99% (crosses
and dotted line) quantile time series from pressure triangles in the British Isle, North
Sea, and Norwegian Sea regions. The lines are obtained from the yearly data by
applying a Gaussian filter with standard deviation of 3 yr. Dimensionless units.
(From Alexandersson et al. 1998.)

FIG. 4. Standardized annual 95% (diamonds and full line) and 99% (crosses
and dotted line) quantile time series from pressure triangles in the Scandinavian,
Finnish, and Baltic Sea regions. The lines are obtained from the yearly data by
applying a Gaussian filter with standard deviation of 3 yr. Dimensionless units.
(From Alexandersson et al. 1998.)

ries of these levels showed no dramatic behavior at any
of the stations, although there was some increase dur-
ing the past two decades. A similar downscaling to that
in Kaas et al. (1996) was carried out but for the period
1900–95 and with canonical correlation analysis re-
placed by multilinear regression analysis. It was found
that the exceedance levels were linked to the winter mean
sea level pressure, with highest correlation coefficients
for stations close to the North Atlantic storm track.
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The residual, that is, the signal not explained by the
model, was also investigated. If the residual time se-
ries has a systematic trend, it would be a sign of chang-
ing physics not incorporated into the model, for
instance systematic change in sea surface temperatures
leading to decreased stability of the atmosphere and
therefore increased baroclinic activity. The residual
time series was found to be without any trend, indi-
cating that no factors are missing in the model.

c. Storm-related sea level variations
The idea of using high-frequency variations of sea

level as a proxy for storm activity was suggested by
de Ronde (cf. von Storch et al. 1994). To do this, the
annual mean water level is subtracted from the data,
because changes in the mean water level are thought
to reflect processes unrelated to the storm activity,
such as local anthropogenic activity (e.g., harbor
dredging), mean sea level rise, or land sinking. After
subtraction of the annual mean, intraannual distribu-
tions of the water level variations are formed, as in the
case of geostrophic winds discussed above, and
intraannual quantiles are determined.

By now, the observational record at a series of tide
gauges around the North Sea coast has been examined
(Langenberg et al. 1997). At Cuxhaven (von Storch
and Reichardt 1997), as well as at other locations, in-
creases of the storm-related intraannual quantiles in the
past decades were found, but the water levels vary still
in a range comparable to historical levels. As ex-
amples, we present the time series for Den Helder (the
Netherlands) and Esbjerg (Denmark) in Fig. 7. The
Den Helder record is inhomogeneous because of the
building of the the Ijsselmeer dam in the 1930s in the

vicinity of the tide gauge (a rough correction was ap-
plied to the data).

4. Generating a “substitute reality” for
wave statistics

As discussed above, an analysis of reported wave
observations is of limited value because of the inho-
mogeneities hidden in such datasets. Therefore, an
attempt was made to reconstruct the time–space sta-
tistics of the wave field with the help of a wave model
integrated over 40 yr using a sequence of 6-h wind
analysis. A detailed account of this simulation is of-
fered by Günther et al. (1998).

With a homogeneous, realistic wind dataset we can
expect, within the bounds of the skill of the wave
model, to receive a detailed space–time evolution of
wave parameters, such as significant wave height,
which may be considered a substitute reality (see, for
instance, Bauer et al. 1996). Even if the hindcasted
substitute reality does not capture all details of the past
wave history, we can expect that low-frequency varia-
tions in the wave statistics, including the interdecadal
variability and trends, are reliably reproduced. Indeed,
this assumption is found to be valid in the present
analysis, when extended time series of in situ observed
significant wave height statistics are compared with
hindcasted wave heights in areas and time intervals
with approximately homogeneous wind field analyses
(Günther et al. 1998).

a. Wave model and forcing data
In the following we describe some technical details

of the wave hindcast 1955–94. For details refer to
Günther et al. (1998).

In the hindcast the fourth-generation wave model
WAM (Komen et al. 1994) was used. It was run twice
for the whole simulation interval 1955–94. First a
“coarse-resolution” northern North Atlantic version
(1.5° lat × long resolution, 9.5°–80°N, 78°W–48°E)
was integrated using the operational wind analysis by
the Fleet Numerical Operational Center (FNOC). The
purpose of this simulation is to generate adequate
time-dependent lateral boundary conditions for the
“fine-resolution wind” run. (The results of the coarse
simulation are of only limited use for the assessments
of changes of the tall wave statistics in European
coastal waters. The wind analyses exhibit some inho-
mogeneities, in particular in 1972 when the operation
system was changed from manual analysis to numeri-

FIG. 6. Monthly mean of absolute values of pressure tenden-
cies for Bergen and Thorshavn (see Fig. 2). Means derived from
in situ data are given as a continuous line, and means derived in-
directly via downscaling by the dashed lines. (From Kaas et al.
1996.)
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cal analysis. Also, the spatial resolution
in the near-coastal areas of northern
Europe is insufficient. Therefore, the re-
sults of this coarse run are not further
considered.)

The hindcast itself is done on a “high-
resolution” grid, covering the northeast
Atlantic (0.5° lat × 0.75° long, 38°–77°N,
30°W–45°E) for 1955–94, using the op-
erational air pressure analysis of the
DNMI. From the air pressure field, sur-
face winds were derived and used as forc-
ing in the wave hindcast.

The DNMI analyses were prepared
four times a day from 1955 until present.
The pressure fields for the years 1955–
81 were obtained by a numerical reanaly-
sis on a 75-km grid using available
pressure observations from ships and
land stations. For the years 1955–79 the
first-guess fields in the analysis were
pressure fields digitized from manually
analyzed weather maps on a 150-km
grid, and for 1980–81 the first-guess
fields came from operational analyses in
a numerical weather prediction model
system. From 1982 the pressure data
were taken from operational analyses
without any reanalysis. From January
1982 to May 1987 the pressure data were
obtained from the global model at
ECMWF, and those for June 1987–1995
from DNMI’s regional weather predic-
tion model.

The degree of contamination of the
DNMI analyses by creeping inhomoge-
neities is examined with the help of maps
of the ratio of storm-related standard de-
viations of air pressure calculated for
consecutive 10-yr intervals. It is found
that this standard deviation has under-
gone a steady increase in data-sparse areas far off the
coasts, while remaining almost constant in an area
surrounding the British Isles and covering the Norwe-
gian Sea, the North Sea, and the Bay of Biscay (cf. Fig.
1). Based on this observation, we conclude that the
DNMI analyses suffer from an artificial worsening of
the storm climate in data-sparse areas.

In the area marked in Fig. 1, between 70° and 50°N
and east of 20°W, the bias seems to be less severe. For
this area slightly more storms were found in the decade

1984–93 than in the previous decades (348 as opposed
to 339, 336, and 330). We do not know to what extent
changes in the analysis scheme are responsible for the
changing storm numbers in that area; therefore the re-
sult of this storm count should be taken as an upper
bound of an increase of storm frequency and intensity.

To further examine the degree of inhomogeneities,
we calculated time series of annual percentiles of geo-
strophic wind speeds derived from triangles, formed
by in situ pressure gauges, and in the DNMI analy-

FIG. 7. Time series of the intraannual quantiles of storm-related water level
variations (defined as deviation from the annual mean) at the gauges in Den Helder
and Esbjerg (see triangles in Fig. 2). Units: cm.

FOIL G000617-091423    000244



750 Vol. 79, No. 5, May 1998

ses. Figure 8 displays the result for the 90% quantiles
for neighboring triangles. In case of the triangle
“Thorshavn–OWS M–Bergen,” no systematic differ-
ences between the two time series emerge, but in the
case of the southern triangle “Bergen–Thorshavn–
Aberdeen,” the analysis exhibits a trend toward stron-
ger winds that is absent in the in situ data. (The
intercomparison between geostrophic winds derived
from in situ observations with those calculated from
the DNMI winds has only limited power in detecting
inhomogeneities, as most of the surface pressure data
available for geostrophic triangle wind calculations
have entered the DNMI pressure analysis. In the
present case, it may be that Aberdeen was not used
for the DNMI analyses, while the other sites,
Thorshavn, Bergen, and Ocean Weather Station M,
were used.) Note that the trend in both triangles

amount for about (2.5 m s−1) (38 yr−1), that is,
≈ 0.06 m s−1 yr−1.

We conclude that the DNMI data to some extent
describe an artificial worsening of the storm climate,
not only in data-sparse areas but also over the North
Sea; in particular, the analyses changed in 1982 and
this seems to have introduced an inhomogeneity. This
artificial worsening of the wind climate will, of course,
be immediately transferred to the wave hindcast, so
that all trends toward taller waves in the hindcast
should be considered as upper bounds of any real up-
ward trends.

b. Analysis of wave hindcast 1955–95: Selected
locations
In Figs. 9 and 10 time series of annual maxima,

means, and 99% and 90% December–January–
February (DJF) quantities of local wind speeds and sig-
nificant wave heights are shown for three selected
locations: between Scotland and Norway (oil field
Brent; 61°N, 1°E; for the locations, see Fig. 2), in the
central North Sea (oil field Ekofisk; 56°N, 3°E, and
in the Norwegian Sea (Ocean Weather Station M). In
all three locations, there are upward (December–
February, DJF) trends in the local winds and in the sig-
nificant wave heights (in centimeters per second per
year and centimeters per year).

Statistic OWS M Brent Ekofisk

WIND SPEED

Maximum 2.8 3.7 2.5

99% 5.3 3.4 4.6

90% 2.4 3.0 4.0

Mean 0.8 3.1 2.9

WAVE HEIGHT

Maximum 7.7 4.3 1.9

99% 4.3 2.9 1.9

90% 0.9 0.6 1.1

Mean 1.1 1.0 0.6

A characteristic of these numbers is that the dis-
tributions have become wider in the past four decades.

FIG. 8. Time series of annual 90% percentiles of geostrophic
wind speeds derived from in situ data (top: Thorshavn–Ocean
Weather Station M–Bergen; bottom: Thorshavn–Aberdeen–
Bergen) and from the operational DNMI analyses. In the lower
panels, the difference between the two curves in the upper panels
in given. Units: m s−1.
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The general increase in strong wind speeds is
consistent with the increase in wind speed found for
the triangles Thorshavn–Bergen–OWS M and
Thorshavn–Bergen–Aberdeen (see Fig. 8), but the in-
crease in geostrophic wind speed percentiles is much
larger. This is due to the difference between wind
speed and geostrophic wind speed.

The largest increases are found for the maxima of
both the wind speeds and the wave heights. At Ocean
Weather Station M the changes, derived from the on-
going in situ wind–wave observations, the hindcast
compares well (Günther et al. 1998). For the mean
wave height increases are 0.1–0.2 m during the 40 yr
of hindcast, relative to mean heights on the order of
2–3 m; the signal is stronger for the maxima, for which
accumulated increases of 1.30–3.30 m are simulated
(on the background of 10–14-m averages).

Also, the temporal evolution of wave
heights in the area west off Ireland con-
sidered by Bouws et al. (1996) was ana-
lyzed. The simulated increases, if any,
are much smaller than those derived from
the ship routing wave charts.

The trends are very sensitive to the
time interval considered. The following
table lists trends for the time interval
1961–87 (on the same time interval the
ship routing map analysis discussed in
section 2c was done) and for the full
hindcast time interval 1955–94.

Max 99% 90%

1961–87

Time mean (m) 17.4 13.0 8.4

Change (cm yr−1) 5.5 1.0 0.5

(% yr−1) 0.3 0.1 0.1

1955–94

Time mean (m) 17.3 12.9 8.3

Change (cm yr−1) 2.2 −1.5 −0.4

(% yr−1) 0.1 −0.1 0.0

The difference between the changes
of the annual maxima (max) and of the
annual percentiles (99% and 90%) be-

FIG. 9. Annual maxima, means, and 99% and 90% percentiles of wind speed
percentiles (for OWS Mike, Brent, and Ekofisk, see Fig. 2) as derived from DNMI
analyses. Trends are given as dashed lines. Units: m s−1.

tween the wave charts (section 2c) and the WAM re-
construction is remarkable. The wave charts indicate
an annual increase of 2.7 cm yr−1 for the 99% percen-
tiles, whereas the hindcast simulates for the same time
interval an increase of only 1 cm yr−1, which becomes
a decrease if the trend is calculated over the full 40 yr.
These peculiar observations point to creeping inhomo-
geneities in the ship routing maps and in the frequency
of extreme wind situations in the wind analyses used in
the wave hindcast. Only the trend in the maximum is not
changing its sign when extending the 1961–87 time
series by about 10 yr to the 1955–94 time series.

At the present time, we cannot determine to what
extent the increases in wave height are due to improved
air pressure analysis techniques and how much is due to
a real worsening of the wave climate. However, the
lesson to be learned from Fig. 8 is that there is indeed
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an upward trend in the past 40 yr at the locations of
OWS M, Brent, and Ekofisk. Another characteristic of
the time series is the presence of irregular temporal varia-
tions on all timescales, from year to year to interdecadal.

c. Analysis of wave hindcast 1955–94: Overall
statistics
A convenient summary of systematic changes in

the frequency of tall waves is a map of the trend in
the 90% quantiles, as shown in Fig. 11. In both the
North Sea and the Norwegian Sea, the trend
is upward with an increase of about 1 cm yr−1 (or,
equivalently, 40 cm over the considered time interval
1955–94). A local maximum of the trend is obtained
northwest off Scotland, with mean annual increases
of about 2 cm yr−1. Otherwise, the trend is mostly nega-
tive, with decreases of about 1 cm yr−1 in the area west
of Ireland, in the open Atlantic Ocean,
and, with somewhat slower decreases, in
the Bay of Biscay. On the boundary of
the considered area, in particular on the
southern and northern boundaries, larger
trends appear, which may partly reflect
boundary effects or inhomogeneity prob-
lems with the wind fields in these data-
sparse areas.

5. Reconstruction of past
wave statistics at selected
locations

Von Storch and Reichardt (1997) de-
veloped a statistical technique that al-
lows the backward reconstruction of
intramonthly percentile time series of
some local variable and the construction
of scenarios for these intramonthly per-
centiles consistent with a given global
climate change scenario. The basic idea
is to first build a statistical model that
links the intramonthly percentiles to
planetary-scale monthly mean air pres-
sure (or other) fields, and then to use this
link to derive estimates of intramonthly
percentiles from historical monthly
mean air pressure maps or from air pres-
sure fields changes simulated in climate
change scenarios.

The base model is explained in sec-
tion 5a; it deviates from the technique

used by von Storch and Reichardt (1997) in that re-
dundancy analysis is used rather than canonical cor-
relation analysis. Since this model is nonstandard and
has not yet been described in the open literature, sec-
tion 5a is somewhat more detailed than the other parts
of this paper. The model is applied to two locations,
the oil fields Brent (between Scotland and Norway)
and Ekofisk (central North Sea). The results for the
two positions are discussed in some detail in section
5b. Scenarios for plausible future statistics are derived
in section 6b.

a. The statistical model for extending the data in
time
A regression model is built that relates two sets of

random vectors S
t
 and Q

t
. In the present cases, the vec-

tor time series S
t
 represents the winter (DJF) monthly

FIG. 10. Annual maxima, means, and 99% and 90 % percentiles of significant
wave height percentiles (for OWS Mike, Brent, and Ekofisk, see Fig. 2) as de-
rived from the wave hindcast. Trends are given as dashed lines. Units: m. (From
Günther et al. 1998.)
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mean air pressure (sea level pressure,
SLP) distributions. The other vector time
series Q

t
 is formed by the 50%, 80%, and

90% intramonthly quantiles of signifi-
cant wave height at a given location
(Brent or Ekofisk):

Qt

t

q

q

q

=














50%

80%

90%

. (1)

Both vectors are assumed to be centered;
that is, their time means are subtracted
prior to the analysis. Also, compression
of the data with the help of EOFs is done
prior to the analysis in order to avoid ar-
tificially enhanced correlations. Four
EOFs are used for SLP and two for the
intramonthly percentiles.

A redundancy analysis (RDA) (Tyler
1982; von Storch and Zwiers 1998) is performed with
the two vector time series. The result of an RDA are
pairs of vectors (ps;k,pq;k) and time coefficients α

s;k
(t)

and α
q;k

(t) so that

S pt s k
s k

k

K

t= ( )
=

∑α ;
;

1
, (2)

Q pt q k
q k

k

K

t= ( )
=

∑α ;
;

1
. (3)

The patterns ps;k and pq;k are determined such that the
regressed expansion

ˆ
;

;Q pt k s k
q k

k

K

t= ( )
=

∑ρ α
1

(4)

describes an optimum of variance of Q for a given
number, K. In order to have uniquely determined so-
lutions, the expansion patterns pq;k of the predictand
are required to be orthonormal, whereas the patterns
ps;k are required to be linearly independent. The first
pair of patterns are chosen such that a maximum of Q
variance is explained, the second pair such that a maxi-
mum of additional variance is represented [because of
the orthonormality of the pq;k patterns, the variance
contributions in (4) may simply be added].

The coefficients are obtained by the projections

FIG. 11. Map of the 1955–94 trends in the intraannual 90% quantiles of sig-
nificant wave height, as derived from the 40-yr hindcast executed with the WAM
wave model. Units: cm yr−1. (From Günther et al. 1998.)

α s k A
s k

;
;= S pT , (5)

α q k
q k

;
;= Q pT , (6)

where p
A

s;k are the adjoints to the patterns ps;k. In (6)
the patterns pq;k appear, since these are constructed to
be orthonormal and thus self-adjoint. The patterns ps;k,
on the other hand, are not orthonormal and therefore
not self-adjoint.

The coefficients are normalized to one,

VAR(α
q;k

) = VAR(α
s;k

) = 1,

so that the three components of pq;k may be interpreted
as anomalies that occur typically together with the
“field distribution” ps;k.

The downscaling model that relates the large-scale
air pressure information to the intramonthly wave height
information is a regression model α

q;k
 = ρ

k
α

s;k
 for the

RDA coefficients α
s;k

 and α
q;k

. A reconstruction in the
three-dimensional space is then obtained using (3):

ˆ
;

;Q pt k s k
q k

k

K
q

q

q

t=














= ( )
=

∑
50%

80%

90%
1

ρ α . (7)

The regression model (7) may be applied to anomalies
of observed or simulated air pressure fields S = Σα

s;k
ps;k.

〉

FOIL G000617-091423    000248



754 Vol. 79, No. 5, May 1998

The success of the reconstruction of intramonthly
wave height percentiles is quantified by two measures
of skill, namely, the correlation skill score ρκ 

and the
percentage of represented variance εκ for κ = 50%,
80%, and 90% (Livezey 1995):

ρ

ε

κ
κ κ

κ κ

κ
κ κ

κ

=
( )

( ) ( )

= −
−( )

( )

C

V V

V

V

OV

AR AR

AR

AR

ˆ ,

ˆ
,

ˆ
,

; ;

; ;

;

;

q q

q q

q q

q

t t

t t

t t

t

1

(8)

where q̂κ ;t
 is the estimated κ percentile in the month t.

b. Results for Brent and Ekofisk
In this section the paired patterns pq;k and ps;k are

shown and discussed for the wave height percentiles
for the oil fields Brent and Ekofisk. The results for
Brent are shown in some detail, whereas those for
Ekofisk are only summarized.

Figure 12 and Table 1 display the first two RDA
patterns of the monthly mean air pressure fields and
wave height quantiles for Brent. The first air pressure
pattern is related to the NAO (van Loon and Rogers 1978;
Hurrell 1995). An intensified NAO in the monthly
mean is associated with enhanced wave heights. In ef-
fect, this pattern describes a shift of the intramonthly
distribution toward taller waves. The second pattern de-
scribes a mean southerly flow across the northern North
Sea; the 50% quantile of the wave height distribution
is enhanced, whereas the 90% is reduced by 26 cm,
so that the overall distribution becomes narrower.

For Ekofisk similar patterns are found (not shown);
the wave height anomalies are smaller than at Brent,
and the second pair is slightly more relevant at Ekofisk
for representing wave height variance.

In the second step, the observed monthly mean air
pressure anomaly fields from 1899 until 1994 were
fed into the regression model (7) and time series of
the quantiles of wave height distribution at Brent are
estimated. The last 40 yr may be compared with the
hindcast data, whereas the first five decades represent
our best guess and cannot be verified at this time.

For the 90% quantiles of wave height distribution,
the reconstructed time series 1899–1994 and the hind-
casted time series 1955–94 are displayed in Fig. 13.
(The results for the other percentiles are similar and
not shown for the sake of brevity.) In the past four de-

cades, the similarity between hindcast and statistically
derived heights is good (cf. Table 2), and the statisti-
cal model confirms the hindcasted increase. However,
this increase appears “normal” when compared to the
changes that may have taken place earlier in this cen-
tury. Indeed, waves as tall as those nowadays seem to
have occurred in the first two decades, when the NAO
was strongest; in the 1920s the NAO weakened sig-
nificantly (van Loon and Rogers 1978), and our sta-
tistical model indicates that concurrently the height of
the waves dropped by several tenths of a centimeter
per year.

Wave height

Quantile 50% 80% 90%

BRENT

Correlation (%) 84 82 78

Described variance (%) 70 67 61

EKOFISK

Correlation (%) 73 69 63

Described variance (%) 52 47 40

TABLE 2. Correlation between hindcasted and reconstructed
quantile time series, and proportion of described variance of wave
height accounted for by the RDA model (7) at Brent and Ekofisk.

Wave height

κ =  50% 80% 90% εε
k

ρ
k

k (cm) (%)

1 −86 −114 −122 94 0.84

2 33 3 −26 5 0.08

TABLE 1. Characteristic anomalies of intramonthly percentiles
of significant wave height at the oil field Brent (61°N, 1.5°E)
north of Scotland in winter (DJF) as obtained in a redundancy
analysis. The k row is the kth redundancy vector pq;k. This vec-
tor represents ε

k
 of the variance of Q within the fitting interval

January 1955–February 1995. Its coefficient α
q;k

 shares a corre-
lation of ρ

k
 with the coefficient of the air pressure pattern ps;k

within the fitting interval.
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Note that the trends in Fig. 11 cannot
directly be compared with those in Fig.
13. Figure 11 is based on time series of
annual quantiles, whereas Fig. 13 is de-
rived from intramonthly quantiles in
winter months (DJF).

6. Scenarios for the expected
time of doubled carbon
dioxide concentrations

In order to determine a consistent
scenario of expected future wave height
statistics in the northeast Atlantic, use is
made of a a paired “2 × CO

2
”/“control”

time-slice experiment with a T106 atmo-
spheric GCM (Bengtsson et al. 1995;
Bengtsson et al. 1996; Cubasch et al.
1996). In the control time-slice experi-
ment, the atmospheric GCM simulates
the equilibrium response to present-day
sea surface temperature and sea ice dis-
tribution and present carbon dioxide con-
centrations. For the 2 × CO

2
 experiment,

SST and sea ice distributions from a
simulation with a coupled low-resolu-
tion atmosphere–ocean GCM with
gradually increasing carbon dioxide con-
centrations are determined from the time
of doubled carbon dioxide concentrations at about the
year 2050 (Cubasch et al. 1992). These SST and sea
ice distributions are then used as specified, time-con-
stant lower boundary conditions for the T106 atmo-
spheric GCM. Additionally, the carbon dioxide
concentrations are doubled.

The time-slice experiments control and 2 × CO
2

were integrated for 6 yr. Clearly, an integration of only
6 yr is rather short (enforced by the enormous com-
putational costs of such simulations), and the discri-
mination between interdecadal variability and the
response to the changed boundary conditions and ra-
diative forcing will be difficult. In fact, in turns out that
the derived scenarios for storminess, wave climate, and
storm surge statistics can hardly be distinguished from
the natural variability (see below).

The output of the time-slice experiments is used
for deriving scenarios of changing storminess, wave
climate, and storm surge statistics. This is done with
two different approaches. First, the simulated weather
streams, in terms of near-surface wind, are considered

(Beersma et al. 1997) and fed into the WAM wave
model (Rider et al. 1996) and into a storm surge model
(Flather and Smith 1998; Langenberg et al. 1997). The

FIG. 12. First two monthly mean air pressure anomaly distributions identified
in a redundancy analysis as being most strongly linked to simultaneous variations
of intramonthly quantiles of significant wave height at Brent (61°N, 1.5°E). The
anomalies of the quantiles at that position are listed in Table 1.

FIG. 13. Reconstructed (dashed line) and hindcasted (continu-
ous line; 1955–94) anomalies of 90% quantiles of significant wave
heights at Brent (61°N, 1.5°E). Units: m.
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results of this exercise are pre-
sented in section 6a. The other
approach makes use of the RDA
model presented in section 5:
The time mean difference of
SLP in the two time-slice ex-
periments is fed into (7) (see
section 6b).

a. Dynamically derived
scenarios
The T106 atmospheric GCM

operates with a horizontal reso-
lution of approximately 75 km,
which is thought to be sufficient
for modeling a realistic weather
stream, that is, storms and high
pressure systems that are consis-
tent with observed weather in
terms of duration, frequency,
strength, and track. Therefore,
this specific climate change ex-
periment was used in the WASA
project in spite of the short simulation time.

Beersma et al. (1997) examined the output of the
T106 simulations and found the simulated weather
stream to be consistent with observations during
a positive phase of the North
Atlantic oscillation, that is, a
phase with westerlies stronger
than on average.

The intercomparison of the
two simulations, control and
2CO

2
, yielded only few changes

between the present and prospec-
tive future storm climate (Fig. 14).
In the Bay of Biscay the 90%
quantiles of wind speed are
simulated to be increased by up to
1.5 m s−1 and in the central North
Sea up to 0.5 m s−1. Over most
of the Atlantic, however, the wind
speed in the climate model is de-
creased by as much as 1 m s−1.

Both weather streams, from
the control run as well as the 2
CO

2
 run, were used as forcing

fields for the wave model WAM
(Rider et al. 1996). The 90% wave
height quantiles are found to in-
crease in the Bay of Biscay and

in the North Sea by up to 0.5 m, whereas in most of the
North Atlantic, the wave heights are decreasing (Fig. 15).

Flather et al. (1998) and Flather and Smith (1998)
ran a storm surge model with the wind and air pres-

FIG. 14. Change in the intraannual 90% quantiles of wind speed as derived from a paired
atmospheric circulation model run with present and doubled carbon dioxide conditions.
Units: m s−1. (From Beersma et al. 1997.)

FIG. 15. Change in the intraannual 90% quantiles of significant wave height simulated
by a wave model as a response to weather streams derived from a paired atmospheric circu-
lation model run with present and doubled carbon dioxide conditions. Units: m. (From Rider
et al. 1996.)
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sure data from the DNMI analysis 1955–94 (reference
run) and from the two time-slice experiments. It was
found that the reference run quite successfully repro-
duced the storm surge statistics derived from various
tide gauges along the North Sea coast as well as the
along Irish and British coasts. The control time-slice
experiment significantly underestimated the height of
the severe storm surges. The difference, in terms of
5-yr return values, between the 2 CO

2
 and the control

run surges was everywhere positive, with maximum
values of 65 cm in the German Bight and 30 cm along
the Dutch coast (see Fig. 16). When compared with
the variability of 5-yr return values calculated from
different 5-yr chunks of the reference (DNMI wind)
run, these changes appeared within the range of natu-
ral variability. However, without further data, Fig. 16
may be considered as a best estimate at this time.

Langenberg et al. (1997) also integrated a storm
surge model with the T106 weather streams and found
a moderate increase of severe storm surges in the North
Sea consistent with Flather’s results. According to
their analysis the increase is mainly due to an increase
of the mean water level and not caused by storm-re-
lated short-term variations around the mean.

b. Empirically derived scenarios
An alternative scenario for possible future modi-

fications of the surge climates is the use of the regres-
sion model (7). To do this, the mean difference of air
pressure 2 CO

2
–control from the paired T106 time-

slice experiments is calculated (Fig. 17) and fed into
the regression model for anomalies of intramonthly
quantiles of wave heights at Brent in the northern
North Sea and at Ekofisk in the central North Sea. This
exercise yields the following results.

Change (cm)
Quantile 50% 80% 90%

Brent 13 18 20
Ekofisk 14 19 22

The statistical models predicts a small, almost uni-
form, shift of 10–20 cm of the wave height distribu-
tion toward taller waves. Thus, the projected changes
of the wave height distribution at the two locations are
small and qualitatively consistent with the results ob-
tained in the dynamically derived estimates. Note,
however, that the numbers cannot be compared one to
one, as the dynamically determined numbers refer to

annual quantiles whereas the statistical model returns
intramonthly percentiles.

An advantage of the statistical method is that it
does not require the availability of a realistic weather
stream as only mean fields are processed. Therefore
global climate change scenarios generated with coarse
resolution, such as T42 (horizontal resolution approxi-
mately 300 km), can also be used as input. A time-slice
experiment, formally identical to the one considered
so far but integrated over 30 yr with a T42 resolution,
is available and has been used for the derivation of an-
other, equally plausible scenario. This results in de-
creases of the significant wave height percentiles at
Brent of the order of 50–70 cm; at Ekofisk the reduc-
tion is about 10 cm for all three percentiles.

The T106 mean air pressure field was also used to
estimate changes of storm-related surge percentiles at
a number of southern and eastern North Sea coast tide
gauges (Langenberg et al. 1997).

Change (cm)
Quantile 50% 80% 90%

Den Helder 6 7 8
Esbjerg 8 11 13

These numbers compare well to the estimate given
by von Storch and Reichardt (1997) for Cuxhaven. If
the T42 time-slice experiment is used instead of the
T106, then the changes of storm-related percentiles are
still positive but considerably smaller.

7. Conclusions

a. Analysis of past hundred years
Our joint efforts for determining whether the storm

and/or wave climate in the North Atlantic Ocean and
adjacent seas have roughened resulted in two findings.

• The storm and surge climate along the European
coasts has not roughened in the past hundred
years. This result is consistent with other analyses
based on local data. For instance, Jónsson (1981)
studied the number of “storm days” on Iceland, as
defined by local observations, and found no sys-
tematic changes (cf. von Storch et al. 1994).

The Koninklijk Nederlands Meteorologisch
Instituut published an assessment on the state of
climate and its change for the territory of the Neth-
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erlands (KNMI 1993). According to that report the
maximum wind speeds observed during severe
storms have not increased between 1910 and today.

• For the wave statistics, hardly any reliable esti-
mates about systematic trends can be derived for
in situ data, and all numbers established on these
grounds should be considered as upper bounds of
any real roughening.

To overcome this situation, the Waves and
Storms in the North Atlantic (WASA) project has

executed a four-decade-long hindcast. This
hindcast suffers again from inhomogeneities inher-
ited from the wind–air pressure analyses. It is
hoped, however, that the derived empirical model
is less affected by these problems.

The empirical model confirms the finding of a
roughening wave climate in the past four decades
and relates it in part to a change of the strength
of the North Atlantic oscillation (cf. Hurrell 1995).

However, the increase of the last decades does
not appear alarming when compared to the recon-
struction of the wave field earlier this century.

In summary, it is claimed that neither the storm
climate nor the wave climate has undergone significant
systematic changes in this century. Instead, the situa-
tion is masked by the presence of natural variability on
all timescales, ranging from year to year to interdecadal.
This low-frequency variability violates the basic assump-
tion of stationarity in conventional extreme value analy-
ses and coastal engineers should be aware of this violation
as a potential pitfall in conventional data analysis.

The recent increase in wave heights, the reality of
which is still questionable, might well be another swing
in the never-ending sequence of ups and downs of
natural variability. Further close monitoring of the de-
velopment is required to eventually evaluate whether
the other possible explanation—systematic changes
because of anthropogenic climate change—might be
adequate (cf. von Storch and Hasselmann 1995).

Our study has a number of caveats. The analysis
of geostrophic winds, pressure tendencies, and high-
frequency sea level variations covers only the near-
coastal areas of northern Europe, and no robust

analysis is available for open ocean re-
gions. Also, one may speculate whether
the link between these proxy data and the
wind speeds holds for extreme wind
speeds. Another caveat refers to the wave
hindcast. This has been performed with
wind analysis that over the course of
time resolved more details (i.e., strong
wind events); thus the diagnosed rough-
ening of the wave climate in the past
decades may still be artificial to some
extent.

b. Outlook for the next century
Our scenario for the expected time of

doubled carbon dioxide concentrations
points to moderate increases of surges

FIG. 16. Difference of 5-yr return values of water level heights,
derived from simulations of a storm surge model, forced with
winds and air pressure from the 2 CO

2
 and the control T106 time-

slice experiments. The difference is within the bounds of natural
variability. Units: cm.

FIG. 17. Simulated atmospheric response to doubled carbon dioxide concen-
trations, as derived from a T106 time-slice experiment. The variable shown is air
pressure at sea level, given in hPa.
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along the North Sea coast and of wave heights in the
Atlantic.

At this time, a word of caution is required. The
scenarios given above are consistent with, and within,
the range of previously observed variations. As such,
they are plausible. However, they depend crucially on
the validity of the driving GCMs; if these GCMs turn
out to be inadequate then our numbers will be inad-
equate as well. Thus, these scenarios should not be
given too much informational weight.

Also, no error bars are given for the scenarios. Such
error bars are often considered by physicists to be in-
dispensable but cannot be given with any degree of
confidence for scenarios. The expected error is com-
posed of many factors, such as the natural variability
of the system, the uncertainty in the timing of the ex-
pected atmospheric doubled carbon dioxide concen-
tration, or errors originating from the various
parameterizations in the used climate model. Since the
climate models are tuned to the observational record
and only one such record exists, rigorous statements
about errors cannot be made.

c. Other aspects
A topic not within the focus of the WASA project,

but of related interest, is the Baltic Sea. Here as well,
increased storm surge levels have been reported, but
Backmann and Tetzlaff (1998) showed that the in-
crease since the 1950s is mainly due to the increased
volume of the Baltic as a result of intensified mean
westerly winds (cf. Heyen et al. 1996). Also, levels of
wave activity were found to be more or less constant
(Mietus and von Storch 1997).

Other aspects examined in the WASA project con-
cern the potential of changing storm surges at the
southern North Sea coast (Bijl 1997) and a process
study demonstrating that an acceleration of the weather
stream does not cause a significant intensification of
the heights but rather a reduction (Bauer et al. 1996).
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From: Monica Wagner
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 12:53 PM
To: Alan Belensz; Lemuel Srolovic; Mandy DeRoche; Philip Bein; Laura Heslin
Subject: RE: One more 

The LA Times said was “a quasi‐governmental organization” formed by “representatives from the oil industry, insurance 
companies and several North American and European governments” but it sounds like that wasn’t correct? 
 

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

FOIL G000617-091423    000257
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From: Alan Belensz
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 2:15 PM
To: Monica Wagner; Lemuel Srolovic; Mandy DeRoche; Philip Bein; Laura Heslin
Subject: RE: One more 

All I could find with a quick Google search is the paper I sent around.    
  

 

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
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 2:31 PM
To: Alan Belensz; Lemuel Srolovic; Mandy DeRoche; Philip Bein; Laura Heslin
Subject: RE: One more 

What a skeptic you are (except about climate change). 
 

From: Alan Belensz  
Sent: Thursday, December 31, 2015 2:15 PM 
To: Monica Wagner; Lemuel Srolovic; Mandy DeRoche; Philip Bein; Laura Heslin 
Subject: RE: One more  
 
All I could find with a quick Google search is the paper I sent around  

  
 

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
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